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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. And welcome to this hearing of the

          4  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services. I'm

          5  Yvette Clarke, and I'm the Chair of the Committee.

          6                 There has been considerable debate

          7  and concern with respect to the issue of response

          8  times, so today we will be discussing two bills that

          9  seek to amend the way the FDNY currently measures

         10  response times.

         11                 In addition, I will again be asking

         12  the Department questions about diversity, something

         13  I vow to do any time the FDNY is before my

         14  Committee. Right now, however, we will be looking at

         15  response times to fires and medical emergencies, how

         16  they are measured from a time a call is received

         17  from 911 to when the fire company or ambulance

         18  arrives at the front door of the destination.

         19                 Tracking response times in this

         20  manner, however, gives the public in the FDNY

         21  insufficient information on the Fire and Emergency

         22  Medical Services. Under this system, a fire and

         23  medical emergency on the 40th floor of a building

         24  will have the same response time as an incident

         25  occurring at the same time in the garage of that
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          2  building. The clock for both will stop running when

          3  the FDNY reaches the front door of the building.

          4                 In reality, of course, you can't

          5  fight a fire on the 40th floor, until you take the

          6  time to get up there with your equipment. Likewise,

          7  you can't be fighting a fire until two engine

          8  companies and one ladder company are present, so

          9  measuring the arrival of just one fire company does

         10  not tell us much.

         11                 Intro. No. 533 will require the FDNY

         12  to change the way it measures and reports

         13  firefighting response times. Under the legislation,

         14  the FDNY will have to measure the time between

         15  receipt of a call to 911, and the completion of four

         16  different stages of arrival. The arrival of the

         17  first responding firefighting unit, the arrival of

         18  the first responding engine company, the arrival of

         19  the first responding ladder company, and the arrival

         20  of the complete, first complete contingent

         21  consisting of a ladder company and two engine

         22  companies.

         23                 In addition, arrival will mean

         24  arrival at the actual fire incident, not just the

         25  front door of the building.
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          2                 Similarly, in Intro. No. 540,

          3  sponsored by Council Member Gerson, seeks to change

          4  how EMS response times are recorded and reported.

          5                 Under this legislation, response time

          6  will mean the time between receipt of a call by 911,

          7  and reaching the actual patient.

          8                 Both pieces of legislation will

          9  require the FDNY to submit a quarterly report to the

         10  Council, detailing the average response times and

         11  range in response times for the measures required in

         12  the bills.

         13                 I will also again be discussing

         14  diversity. In the last two hearings I have

         15  repeatedly pointed out how the Mayor and the

         16  Commissioner are not willing to provide real funding

         17  for diversity. By my calculations, the FDNY spends

         18  then less than .04 percent of its budget on

         19  recruiting. Today I will focus on the firefighter

         20  written exam, and the way the candidates are ranked

         21  on that exam. No exam can test for firefighting

         22  ability, or the skills to be a great firefighter

         23  like bravery and teamwork. Nonetheless, scores on

         24  this exam are a major factor in whether or not

         25  someone gets hired.
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          2                 Another substantial factor is the up

          3  to 25 bonus points that are available and have

          4  little or no relation to firefighting skills. The

          5  reason there are passing grades on the FDNY's

          6  written and fiscal exams is to ensure that any

          7  candidate placed on the FDNY hiring list meets

          8  necessary intelligence and strength criteria.

          9                 Every person on the 1999 hiring list,

         10  for example, was eventually offered a position in

         11  the Fire Academy. To truly improve diversity, we

         12  need to begin treating these candidates as equal and

         13  leave behind the fiction that relative ranking on

         14  the FDNY's hiring list accurately reflects

         15  differences in merit and fitness.

         16                 Finally, I will be asking the FDNY to

         17  clarify what is meant in the context of recruitment

         18  by consideration cases. According to yesterday's New

         19  York Daily News editorial page, past Fire

         20  Commissioners have permitted certain connected

         21  firefighter candidates to jump to the front of the

         22  FDNY's hiring list. This is accurate. It greatly

         23  disturbs me.

         24                 I'm joined today by Council Member

         25  Gerson, who has some brief words about his
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          2  legislation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,

          4  and I note your use of the word "brief," and I will

          5  fulfill that charge.

          6                 Just first of all, I want to thank

          7  you once again for your outstanding leadership. As

          8  I've said before, we are all in this City safer and

          9  better off because Yvette Clarke chairs this

         10  Committee and serves on this Council, and I thank

         11  you.

         12                 I just wanted it pointed out, we have

         13  learned in the fight against crime, through the

         14  successful use of COMSTAT, how important

         15  information, accurate information, complete

         16  information, real, meaningful information is to the

         17  success of any emergency service, in this case to

         18  the success of the fight against crime. We need the

         19  same type of meaningful, accurate, up-to-date

         20  information with respect to firefighter,

         21  firefighting response times and ambulance call

         22  response times.

         23                 We have the best personnel in the

         24  world with our firefighters, with our medical

         25  technicians, with our paramedics, with our 911
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          2  operators, and, of course, with the medical

          3  personnel in the hospitals, they all deserve to have

          4  the best appointment to assure that both ambulances

          5  and buildings have the best possible equipment to

          6  facilitate the shortest time of arrival to the

          7  victim. And, of course, the public, the public to

          8  the City of New York, deserves this information.

          9                 I'll conclude by pointing out that

         10  with this information we will be able to assure, we

         11  will be able to assure that we have a proper and

         12  sufficient deployment of personnel, that buildings

         13  are set up and maintained in a way to facilitate in

         14  the case of the medical personnel, medical

         15  responders, expedited arrival to the victim, and

         16  that our public is served as best and as effectively

         17  and as efficiently as possible.

         18                 When you're sick, God forbid, with

         19  cardiac arrest, or any other medical emergency, what

         20  counts is not when the ambulance arrives to the

         21  address, what counts is when the paramedics and

         22  technicians arrive to your side to the victims.

         23                 In the City of New York with so many

         24  high-rises, with so many walk-ups, we need that

         25  information to assure the best possible emergency
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          2  response system, and we need to have that

          3  information reported regularly and publicly to the

          4  Council and to the public, to assure adequate and

          5  sufficient deployment that's what these bills are

          6  all about, and I would hope that we could reach

          7  common ground on something as basic as this with the

          8  Department and the Administration. I look forward to

          9  the hearing.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         12  Council member. We'll be joined shortly by Council

         13  Member Tony Avella, who just had to switch his

         14  schedule around a little bit, but should be arriving

         15  shortly.

         16                 Let me turn now to our panel of

         17  experts and welcome you all to this Committee

         18  hearing. We feel that it's important to get, of

         19  course, your professional expertise on this matter.

         20  And, so, I'd ask at this time to hear the testimony

         21  of Chief of Department, Chief Hayden, who will be

         22  testifying on behalf of the FDNY.

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Good afternoon,

         24  Chairperson Clarke and Council members. Thank you

         25  for the opportunity to testify today about Intros
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          2  533 and 540, which concern the way which the FDNY

          3  measures Fire and EMS response times.

          4                 Intro. 533, the firefighting response

          5  time bill, is seriously flawed in concept, ignores

          6  basic principals of firefighting, and would actually

          7  delay critical life-saving work.

          8                 Intro. 540, the EMS response time

          9  bill, is also flawed and is not technologically

         10  feasible at this point.

         11                 I will discuss these bills in more

         12  detail, then along with Chief of Fire Operations

         13  Salvatore Cassano, and Chief of EMS Operations, John

         14  Peruggia, we will answer your questions on these

         15  bills.

         16                 Deputy Commissioner for

         17  Administration Douglas White, is also here to answer

         18  your questions on diversity issues.

         19                 The FDNY measures fire response time

         20  as a time between when an FDNY fire dispatcher

         21  receives information about a fire, for example, when

         22  a 911 operator relays a call to the Fire Dispatcher.

         23  And the transmission of an automated signal by the

         24  first apparatus that arrives at the scene of the

         25  reported fire.
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          2                 Fire companies are dispatched to all

          3  reported fires. While en route, the fire dispatcher

          4  relays all available information on the reported

          5  fire to dispatch units.

          6                 When the first arriving apparatus

          7  reaches the scene, the company typically transmits a

          8  1084 signal, and immediately commences operations.

          9                 After transmission of the 1084

         10  signal, however, fire responses can be quite varied.

         11  The operational methods employed involved, as

         12  officers and firefighters ascertain additional

         13  information not available through the dispatcher.

         14                 For instance, the 911 caller may have

         15  provided incorrect information to the dispatcher.

         16  For example, the wrong apartment number or building

         17  address. The 911 caller may have also reported

         18  visible smoke in a general area, or provided no

         19  precise fire location. The 911 caller also could

         20  have made a false report.

         21                 These situations would also inquire

         22  detailed observation of the area prior to the start

         23  of the actual containment and suppression. And in

         24  very few of these situations would operations begin

         25  with immediate entry into the fire building, floor
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          2  or room, or with the instantaneous use of water.

          3                 Intro. 533 would require that

          4  response times be calculated from the time of

          5  receipt of an initial 911 call for fire response, to

          6  both the time when firefighters enter the fire area,

          7  that is the door of a fire building, floor or

          8  apartment where the fire is located, and the time

          9  when water is applied to a fire.

         10                 We are aware of no other Fire

         11  Department in the country that calculates response

         12  times in this manner.

         13                 The bill further proposes that

         14  quarterly reports be made detailing the arrival at

         15  the fire of the first firefighting unit. The first

         16  engine company, the first ladder company, and the

         17  first complete contingent of both an engine and a

         18  ladder company. The phrase first complete

         19  contingent, that is used in Intro. 533 is not a term

         20  used by the FDNY.

         21                 Currently the FDNY complies and

         22  disseminates a great deal of response time data.

         23  This data includes the arrival time of the first

         24  FDNY apparatus. Typically the first engine or first

         25  ladder company that transmits a 10-84 signal.
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          2                 We track when all engines, ladders,

          3  squads and battalions arrive at the scene of an

          4  incident.

          5                 The data we collect and utilize in

          6  our operations is based on national Fire Protection

          7  Association standards, as to what constitutes

          8  arrival in a context of emergency response

          9  operations.

         10                 In particular, the NFPA 1710 standard

         11  defines three time components that when measured

         12  cumulatively, historically have been known as

         13  response time. The components of the definitions

         14  are:

         15                 Dispatch time. The interval between

         16  receipt of the emergency alarm to the moment where

         17  the dispatcher has sufficient and applicable units

         18  are notified.

         19                 Turnout time. The time between when a

         20  unit acknowledges notification of the emergency to

         21  the beginning of the response time.

         22                 Response time. The time that begins

         23  when units are en route to the emergency incident,

         24  and ends when units arrive on scene.

         25                 These NFPA definitions are accepted
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          2  and used by Fire Departments nationwide.

          3                 The various definitions of "arrival"

          4  used in Intro. 533 are not based on any national or

          5  other recognized standard of which we are aware. The

          6  Intro's definitions conflict with the NFPA and fail

          7  to take into account the reality of firefighting

          8  operations.

          9                 First, as I previously stated, FDNY

         10  fire units often commence their operations before

         11  the units arrive at the entrance of a particular

         12  building, the fire floor or the suspected fire

         13  apartment door.

         14                 This is the case, for example, when a

         15  fire is not visible from the street when the units

         16  arrive at the given address.

         17                 Often, fire personnel must survey all

         18  sides of a building before they can determine which

         19  floor or which apartment is involved.

         20                 The initial assessment of the scene

         21  by fire professionals is essential to life and

         22  property saving operations and must not be

         23  overlooked as a critical marker of the commencement

         24  of emergency response operations.

         25                 In short, when a unit arrives on the
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          2  scene, firefighting operations begin immediately.

          3  Arrival at the exact apartment or location where the

          4  fire was initially reported to be is often not the

          5  first step, but rather is a later stage in an

          6  organized, complex and rapidly moving process.

          7                 Indeed, because this process is so

          8  complex and involves many factors that change

          9  depending on the type of structure, the nature of

         10  the fire, calculating the time it takes for

         11  responding units to reach the location of the fire

         12  would be somewhat arbitrary.

         13                 Some of the many firefighting

         14  measures that may be taken before the arrival, as

         15  defined in the Intro, of any of the responding units

         16  include:

         17                 - assessing and surveying the

         18  incident at the scene.

         19                 - determining the kind of hose and

         20  size is needed.

         21                 - hooking hoses up to the hydrant and

         22  other preparations to get water flowing.

         23                 - determining the location of the

         24  fire.

         25                 - forcing entry.
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          2                 - raising portable ladders.

          3                 - transmitting signals to other

          4  responding units.

          5                 - evacuating or aiding possible

          6  victims; and

          7                 - attempting to rescue victims from

          8  windows that may or may not be on the suspected fire

          9  floor.

         10                 Similarly, fire operations often

         11  commence before the responding units begin to apply

         12  water to the fire or undertake any or all of the

         13  activities I have just mentioned.

         14                 The decision of when and where to

         15  apply water is based in part on the strategy the

         16  responding will use to fight the fire.

         17                 The decided-upon strategy may involve

         18  personnel performing other actions before actually

         19  applying water to the fire.

         20                 Ultimately, the definition of arrival

         21  used in Intro. 533 is both inaccurate and

         22  unrealistic. Since every response to an incident is

         23  different, depending on the type of structure,

         24  nature of the fire, and many other variables that

         25  must be taken into account, the only real constant
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          2  is how long it takes to respond to the scene.

          3                 Given the many complexities of

          4  firefighting tactics and strategies, trying to

          5  devise statistics based on when fire units arrive at

          6  the fire floor or the fire apartment door, or when

          7  they get water on the fire, would be arbitrary and

          8  would fail to take into account the important life-

          9  and property-saving operations that take place when

         10  a unit arrives on the scene.

         11                 In addition, FDNY would be forced to

         12  undertake time-consuming, individualized assessments

         13  of each and every fire to determine subjectively

         14  when any of these markers of arrival were actually

         15  appropriate.

         16                 Many of our runs would have to be

         17  eliminated from the statistics. For an example, when

         18  water was ready, but the fire units could not gain

         19  access to the building or the fire floor because of

         20  security gates.

         21                 If the Department expended all of

         22  this unnecessary effort, at best we would learn what

         23  we already know now, that it takes more time to get

         24  to the sixth floor of a building than to the second

         25  floor.
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          2                 We are confident that our highly

          3  motivated personnel act as expeditiously as possible

          4  to save life and property at every incident, whether

          5  a fire is on the ground floor or on the 50th floor.

          6                 The proposed legislation will also

          7  require firefighters to interrupt or to deviate from

          8  their life, or property saving work to transmit

          9  messages, convey signals or make a record of various

         10  possible arrival times.

         11                 This wastes valuable seconds and

         12  distracts personnel from their core duties of saving

         13  life and property.

         14                 If the goal is to have a standard

         15  that accurately measures the performance of fire

         16  suppression activities, it makes littler sense to

         17  adopt a standard that inherently detracts from that

         18  performance.

         19                 In addition, the FDNY does not

         20  currently have the technological resources to

         21  measure, as the bill would require arrival at the

         22  fire floor or door or water on the fire times.

         23                 In our view, developing and

         24  implementing such resources is unnecessary and

         25  fiscally wasteful.
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          2                 The FDNY brings enormous resources

          3  very rapidly to every fire. Our engine companies are

          4  always paired at the lowest level response a first

          5  alarm. The FDNY dispatches two engines, two ladder

          6  trucks and a Battalion Chief.

          7                 When one of those responding engine

          8  companies is a "four-firefighter" engine, a third

          9  engine company responds. At any response beyond a

         10  first alarm, at least four engines respond.

         11                 Furthermore, the FDNY is the only

         12  Fire Department in the country that operates any of

         13  its engines with five firefighters and an officer.

         14  We currently have 60 firefighter engines. We are

         15  aware of no US City that operates with that many

         16  firefighters per engine company. For example,

         17  Chicago has four firefighters and one officer per

         18  engine. Baltimore, Los Angeles, Boston and Miami

         19  operate with three firefighters and one officer per

         20  engine.

         21                 Statistics show that the FDNY's

         22  enormous commitment of personnel to each incident is

         23  very successful in preventing the escalation of

         24  fires. Less than 1 percent of structural fires in

         25  New York City progress to a second alarm or greater.

                                                            20

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 Moreover, in 2004, the City had 82

          3  civilian fire-related deaths, an 85-hear low.

          4                 Clearly, these statistics show that

          5  the FDNY is getting the right resources to fires in

          6  a timely fashion.

          7                 Lastly, the FDNY does not control 911

          8  operators. They are New York City Police Department

          9  employees. Accordingly, the FDNY does not generate

         10  data that measures the time it takes for these NYPD

         11  operators to receive the 911 calls and then relay

         12  the information to FDNY dispatchers.

         13                 By failing to distinguish between the

         14  911 call operator and fire and EMS Dispatchers,

         15  Intros 533 and 540 charge the FDNY with

         16  administrative responsibilities that it does not

         17  currently have over NYPD operators.

         18                 With respect to EMS response times,

         19  the Department measures its EMS response times in

         20  virtually the same way it measures fire response

         21  times. EMS response time for the entire 911 system

         22  of ambulances is measured from the time of the entry

         23  of the call type, for example, cardiac arrest, to

         24  the time of the arrival of the ambulance at the

         25  address provided.
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          2                 This method of EMS response time

          3  measurement comports with NFPA standards. All major

          4  US cities calculate EMS response times this way.

          5                 We believe that this legislation has

          6  significant problems. Currently, FDNY EMS has no

          7  automated method or mechanism to capture the time it

          8  takes for EMS personnel to reach the intended

          9  patient.

         10                 Requiring them to record this

         11  manually would waste valuable seconds that are

         12  particularly critical in responding to cardiac

         13  arrest or choke calls.

         14                 Requiring EMS personnel to relay

         15  information like this to our dispatchers via the

         16  handie-talkie radios is impractical. Not only does

         17  it waste valuable time, transmitting information,

         18  awaiting acknowledgment, confirming correct

         19  information, but our EMTs and paramedics routinely

         20  treat patients in subways, other below-grade

         21  locations and buildings where radio communications

         22  are difficult or impossible without a repeater.

         23                 If the FDNY were required to compile

         24  statistics, but eliminate from the data those calls

         25  where the information was not properly transmitted
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          2  due to communications difficulties, the statistics

          3  would be meaningless.

          4                 Other concerns that we have about the

          5  proposed legislation is that it does not address how

          6  to measure response times to multiple casualty

          7  incidents or to incidents where the location of the

          8  patient was not accurately reported to 911, which

          9  happens with some frequency. The FDNY does not have

         10  the ability to provide response times by City block,

         11  as required by the bill.

         12                 Also, as stated previously, the FDNY

         13  does not control or employ 911 operators and

         14  therefore does not have access to data measuring

         15  their efficiency or timeliness.

         16                 We understand that this hearing was

         17  also to cover the topic of FDNY diversity. As Deputy

         18  Commissioner White testified in late January, and

         19  Commissioner Scoppetta testified two and a half

         20  weeks ago, diversity is extremely important to the

         21  Fire Department.

         22                 Over the three years of Commissioner

         23  Scoppetta's tenure with the FDNY, the Department has

         24  committed more resources and time to diversity than

         25  at any other period in FDNY's history. The result
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          2  has been that in the last three years, probationary

          3  classes had 14.7 percent minority representation,

          4  versus 6.6 percent in the previous decade. This

          5  shows that while we have a long way to go, we are

          6  making progress.

          7                 All of the Department's efforts

          8  occurred in an atmosphere of fiscal restraint and

          9  deep budget cuts. There is little else to report to

         10  you on diversity since the Department last answered

         11  questions from this committee on the topic less than

         12  three weeks ago.

         13                 I therefore respectfully refer you to

         14  the January 20, 2005 testimony of Deputy

         15  Commissioner White, who is here to answer questions

         16  from the committee on this topic, and the

         17  Committee's discussion with Commissioner Scoppetta

         18  on February 14th, 2005.

         19                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  speak to the Committee about the proposed

         21  legislation, which we oppose. We would be very happy

         22  to take your questions at this time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         24  much, Chief.

         25                 So, I guess you guys don't like the
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          2  legislation, huh? Let me raise a couple of

          3  questions, and I guess this legislation does really

          4  call for New York City to see itself in a much more

          5  unique position than is the standard for any other

          6  City in this nation, simply because we are so

          7  uniquely different in being such a vertical city.

          8                 Let me ask in the context of that,

          9  the FDNY currently measures response time to the

         10  door of the building where an incident is occurring.

         11  As a result, the response time recorded by a fire --

         12  recorded, excuse me, for a fire on the 40th floor of

         13  a high-rise, would be the same as recorded for a

         14  fire in the garage of the same building.

         15                 Obviously, though, it would take

         16  longer to reach the fire on the higher floor.

         17                 Am I correct in that? And wouldn't

         18  that them mean a different response time?

         19                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Certainly high-rise

         20  buildings taken an extended period of time to get to

         21  the fire floor. In recognition of that, we commit a

         22  large amount of resources on the report of a

         23  structural fire in a high-rise building.

         24                 By using the statistics here to

         25  measure time to get to any number of floor, only
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          2  would provide us with information that we already

          3  know, that it takes more time to transmit to stretch

          4  a line, the sixth floor, than it would be to the

          5  40th floor.

          6                 The standard that we use is a

          7  consistent standard, a measurable standard by which

          8  we can have a comparative analysis of how we do as a

          9  Department in comparison to other large departments

         10  throughout the country.

         11                 There are many variables that lead to

         12  inaccuracy and invalidity in the comparison of times

         13  when you try to measure the time we get to the fire

         14  floor in any particular building, whether it's a

         15  high-rise building or a six-story tenement building.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, don't you

         17  feel that there is a particular role, at least in

         18  terms of firefighting and what I would gather would

         19  be the eventuality of more technologically advanced

         20  means of firefighting to create that type of

         21  accuracy in response time?

         22                 I mean, I understand that the NFPA

         23  established a standard, but we know that many of

         24  those standards over time become somewhat obsolete,

         25  particularly if technologies apply to a model or
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          2  things of that nature. Don't you foresee that as

          3  being a situation that will be applicable to a City

          4  like New York?

          5                 CHIEF HAYDEN: The problem, once

          6  again, is the number of variables that enter into

          7  the time you apply water to a fire or put water on a

          8  fire. There are many other actions that are taken by

          9  fire units at any fire prior to putting water on the

         10  fire.

         11                 In particular, in a high-rise

         12  building, one of the first activities they do is to

         13  take control of the command center and monitor the

         14  building systems. They recall the elevators and make

         15  sure the elevators are all down. There are many

         16  activities that are being done to address the life

         17  safety issue, prior to putting water on the fire.

         18                 So, it is not a really accurate

         19  measure of when our firefighting operations begin.

         20                 I think the safest standard, the

         21  surest standard, the most constant standard we have

         22  is arrival time at the address.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: How would you

         24  then be able to do, I guess an analysis, of whether

         25  there needs to be a change in technique, whether new
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          2  equipment should be utilized, if you don't have a

          3  sampling relative to not having a new technology or

          4  something in place if you don't have a picture or a

          5  snapshot of various scenarios of what happens when

          6  one attacks a fire in terms of time?

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: If the technology was

          8  available, we certainly would look at it, but it

          9  doesn't exist right now. It would take an awful lot

         10  of training to do this.

         11                 Right now in order for a fire officer

         12  on a fire floor to transmit that he is beginning

         13  operator in a line, particularly in a high-rise

         14  building a lot of times it takes a relay. All right?

         15  There is an inherent delay there in transmitting

         16  this information. So, you really have no validity in

         17  the accuracy of the report that they're stretching

         18  that line and operating on the fire.

         19                 It becomes meaningless because there

         20  is no really objective criteria that is used.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What role do

         22  response times in decisions on locating Fire and EMS

         23  resources in the City? Is there a role that response

         24  times play in the decisions in locating Fire and EMS

         25  resources in the City?
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          2                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, our fire houses

          3  are strategically located, our company is

          4  strategically located around the City, and we

          5  constantly evaluate the response times of companies,

          6  and certainly sometimes those response times would

          7  indicate that we could close companies based on

          8  changing demographics. But with the current

          9  technology, we may be able to determine that there

         10  was a need for new fire companies throughout the

         11  City based on our response times.

         12                 So, the ability to provide fire

         13  protection in a quick manner, the response time is

         14  the overriding decision where we place our fire

         15  company.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We have been

         17  joined by Council Member Tony Avella of Queens.

         18                 Since response time data does not

         19  reflect the additional time required to respond to

         20  incidents in high-rise buildings, how does the FDNY

         21  take high-rises into account in decisions on

         22  locating Fire and EMS resources in the City?

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Once again, it's based

         24  on how effectively we can provide a quick response.

         25  The response numbers that we have going to high-rise
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          2  fires is a very large group of engine companies and

          3  ladder companies to address the fact that it does

          4  take some time to get the water on the fire and to

          5  begin the search operation on the reported fire

          6  floor.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: But that is what

          8  determines how you locate Fire and EMS resources?

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No. Our fire companies

         10  are strategically located to provide adequate fire

         11  protection in an area based on response times. Our

         12  engine companies, ladder companies, special units,

         13  our battalions and the divisions are all based on

         14  that response time criteria.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And that's based

         16  on arrival time at the location, not necessarily all

         17  the other actions?

         18                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes, it is. That's the

         19  most consistent and current standard. It follows the

         20  nationally recognized standards and allows us to

         21  measure our performance against other major

         22  departments throughout the country.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: The NFPA standard

         24  1710 set standard for both the response time of the

         25  first engine company, and also the response time of
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          2  a full alarm assignment. The full alarm assignment

          3  requires the presence of 15 to 17 personnel, and in

          4  New York City would mean the presence of two engine

          5  companies, and one ladder company.

          6                 DOES the FDNY currently track

          7  response times for a full alarm assignment?

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: We keep track of all

          9  apparatus that respond to an incident. They're all

         10  required to give a 10-84 signal.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And isn't it the

         12  case that the FDNY cannot begin fighting fires until

         13  two engine companies and a ladder company arrive?

         14                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No. They can initiate

         15  firefighting operations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What is reflected

         17  by the response time data reported in the Mayor's

         18  Management Report?

         19                 You know, we get response time data

         20  when the Mayor issues his management report. Can you

         21  give us what that --

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: We measure responses

         23  through various types of emergencies and suppliers.

         24  We also look at it and break it down by borough, so

         25  that we can have a comparative analysis done of how
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          2  we're performing throughout the City.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is the time it

          4  takes for the first responding fire unit to arrive

          5  at an incident, is that the time that we're seeing

          6  in the --

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: That's the 10-84 time

          8  that's taken into consideration.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         10                 Council Member Gerson. And let me

         11  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member

         12  David Yassky.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         14  much, Madam Chair.

         15                 Good afternoon, Chiefs.

         16                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Good afternoon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. White,

         18  good to see you.

         19                 Because my chair was so, as always,

         20  thorough in her questioning of 540, I'm going to

         21  confine my inquiries -- she was thorough with

         22  respect to 533, I'm going to confine my inquiries

         23  with respect to 540. These numbers, you know,

         24  they're confusing. But accurate information, that's

         25  what we want.
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          2                 And I just want to go over your

          3  testimony, because I think maybe we could figure out

          4  ways of kind of bridging the gap. You know, I view

          5  this as an opportunity for us here on the Council to

          6  help you do the jobs we know you want to do, by

          7  getting you everything you need, including

          8  information.

          9                 If we could come up with the best

         10  possible system of doing that, I think we always

         11  want to move forward.

         12                 So, let me just first start at the

         13  beginning. Your point about the 911 operators being

         14  under NYPD employment, and I appreciate your

         15  reminding us of that, do you know if the NYPD keeps

         16  information or statistics, whether it's automated or

         17  manual or in some other way, I guess it has to be

         18  one or the other, but does NYPD keep statistics as

         19  to the time of receipt of the call and conveying the

         20  information to the FDNY dispatchers?

         21                 In other words, do we know how long a

         22  911 operator is on the phone?

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I'm not aware of it.

         24  And if they do we've never received it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair, I
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          2  think we should find that out. It seems to me with

          3  today's technology there should be an easy way of

          4  doing it. I mean, my home phone system often keeps

          5  track of and reminds me how long I'm on the phone,

          6  at least my billing statement does, and it would be

          7  good to have that information and we could, you

          8  know, if we have that, we simply add it to the

          9  information you keep, and then that solves that

         10  problem. So, we've already solved one problem.

         11                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, that's good.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There you go.

         13                 And certainly, I think you should

         14  have the benefit of that information so we could

         15  pursue that.

         16                 Now, let me ask you this: Could you

         17  describe with respect to the EMS ambulances under

         18  FDNY control, what is the process? How do the

         19  technicians or paramedics signal or record the time

         20  of their arrival at the address? I mean, physically

         21  what happens? How do they get that information over?

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I will let Chief

         23  Peruggia from the EMS Operations answer any

         24  questions on EMS dispatch.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. And
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          2  we're happy, we have great faith in him. Can you

          3  must move the mic a little?

          4                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Identify yourself

          6  for the record.

          7                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: John Peruggia, Chief

          8  of EMS Operations, Fire Department, New York.

          9                 Ambulance crews upon their arrival,

         10  if the location presented to them from dispatch is

         11  the scene of the medical emergency, will depress a

         12  signal on the computer which exists in the

         13  ambulance, which will automatically transmit that

         14  they also arrived at the scene or intended scene of

         15  the emergency.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, in other

         17  words they push a button.

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Identical to what

         19  firefighting companies do upon arrival.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And where is

         21  this button located?

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: It's on their mobile

         23  dispatch camera which exists in the cab of their

         24  vehicle.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is it affixed
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          2  to the vehicle? Or is it something portable that

          3  they carry with them?

          4                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: It's affixed to the

          5  vehicle.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. There's

          7  no verbal transmission at all, it's just pushing the

          8  button?

          9                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: In the event an

         10  ambulance is operating without a functional mobile

         11  data terminal, they would transmit that information

         12  verbally from their vehicle radio.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just 10-84 or

         14  whatever?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If they have

         17  to do that, does that, in your opinion, detract --

         18  does that create a significant delay in response

         19  that they have to do that manually? If they have to

         20  do that 10-84, is that a real problem, or just an

         21  inconvenience that you'd rather avoid?

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Under present

         23  conditions it's infrequent that an ambulance crew

         24  would be in service without a functioning MDT. So

         25  the majority of signal is transmitted electronically
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          2  by pushing the button of the MDT in their vehicle.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But if they

          4  have to do it verbally, it's just a simple -- I

          5  mean, how long does that take?

          6                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Upon their arrival,

          7  the operator of the vehicle would key up their

          8  microphone and transmit to the dispatcher. In the

          9  event that the dispatch frequency was occupied with

         10  that dispatcher relaying other verbal information to

         11  other crews, it could delay their transmission, or

         12  at times not allow their transmission to be

         13  received, whereas information from that call would

         14  not be able to be calculated in our performance.

         15                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I would just like to

         16  add to that, the entry onto the MDT is automated.

         17  By having to use the mobile radio, the entry has to

         18  be logged in by the dispatcher, I believe, and there

         19  is an inherent delay there on him recording that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: By the

         21  dispatcher at the receiving end.

         22                 Isn't it the case that now-a-days

         23  some of the equipment we use, for example, to pick

         24  up your example of cardiac arrest, or the Chief's

         25  example of cardiac arrest when we use the automatic
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          2  defibrillators, doesn't that equipment either have,

          3  or have the potential to incorporate a

          4  time-recording mechanism?

          5                 For example, the equipment

          6  automatically records the time of delivery of first

          7  shock?

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Semi-automatic

          9  defibrillators, once applied in becoming operational

         10  on a victim of cardiac arrest, do have a module that

         11  captures and timestamps all data with regards to its

         12  use.

         13                 However, the times in those

         14  particular pieces of equipment are not automatically

         15  synchronized with the dispatch system, and there is

         16  no method of that synchronization. So, if there's

         17  any difference, it would distract from accurate

         18  reporting of response time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: What is the

         20  time on this equipment synchronized to?

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Ambulance crews

         22  routinely will synchronize their equipment on a

         23  regular basis to their watch. Our dispatchers

         24  transmit the times regularly over the air, and we

         25  ask them to synchronize their times, but there can
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          2  be times where synchronization is not automatic and

          3  consistent, thereby causing inconsistencies in time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I guess what

          5  I'm getting at is whether or not the State of

          6  Technology is such that without any significant

          7  expense, we have a way of providing an automated

          8  signal to time, at the time of a crew's arrival at

          9  the victim or within the apartment of the victim.

         10                 It seems to me if we can have a

         11  button in the ambulance or in the truck, we should

         12  be able to have, nowadays with everything being

         13  wired, we should be able to have a button on the

         14  walkie-talkie or a button on the, you know, some

         15  piece of equipment that is portable, and if it's a

         16  matter of synchronization, then, you know, there is

         17  a national standard for time that perhaps everything

         18  can be synchronized to.

         19                 I'm just wondering, has the

         20  Department recently reexamined the technological

         21  opportunity for reporting time of arrival of a

         22  victim without creating any delay? Have you

         23  undertaken any kind of internal review or process to

         24  see, you know, how much that would cost?

         25                 I'm sure it can be done. It's really
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          2  a question of cost.

          3                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: Technologically

          4  anything can be done with a price.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right. Do you

          6  know how much it would cost to do that?

          7                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: No, there has been no

          8  study to find out what the cost would be to

          9  technologically allow that to occur.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, maybe as

         11  we try and figure all this out, maybe that's the

         12  next step. And I would look forward to working with

         13  you to see that that happens.

         14                 Let me just, two other points you

         15  raised. Well, let me just, one last question on this

         16  point.

         17                 You have two responders in the case

         18  of an ambulance response of the victim. And I know,

         19  I have unfortunately been at things where there was

         20  this response and obviously one person typically

         21  maybe perceives directly to the victim, the other

         22  person will ask an observer or a witness with a

         23  relative who may recall what happened, you know, so

         24  they could assess the situation. I mean, that's

         25  common sense. Is it really that much more extra time
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          2  for one of the two people, in most cases, to quickly

          3  give a 1084 just to let the dispatcher know that

          4  they're in the apartment? Does that really make a

          5  difference? Putting aside the automation issue?

          6                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: First, to go back to

          7  a statement made by Chief Hayden in his introductory

          8  testimony. The current technology, because many of

          9  our calls are within buildings or below grade, it

         10  may be difficult or improbable that that radio

         11  transmission is done.

         12                 Second is very subjective, based on

         13  the call type, because although one of the initial

         14  two responding crew members is immediately going to

         15  the intended patient side and beginning a physical

         16  assessment of that person's signs, symptoms and

         17  condition, the other is getting information as to

         18  the history of the incident, as well as pertinent

         19  medical history that would then allow that team to

         20  ensure appropriate treatment is provided.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: All right.

         22  Then I look forward to hearing testimony from some

         23  of the folks who are involved with this, as are you,

         24  some of the other folks who are involved with this,

         25  to see if there is a way of figuring it out.
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          2                 But just to wrap up on the other two

          3  points, one you just reiterated about, below grade

          4  locations or certain buildings, where communications

          5  are difficult without a repeater, I mean it strikes

          6  me that we should have a Citywide policy goal of

          7  having the necessary equivalent repeaters or

          8  otherwise in every subway station, in every

          9  structure. So that putting aside the issue, the

         10  specific issue we're discussing today, I get very

         11  worried, you know, when you guys can't communicate

         12  out, I mean, you know, we have that situation

         13  already in my district, and God forbid, I don't ever

         14  want to have that again.

         15                 So, I want to work with you, and we

         16  should have universal communications availability,

         17  as a goal which we act on as rapidly as possible.

         18                 And I see the chief wants to comment

         19  at, so I don't want to stop you.

         20                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I want to thank

         21  you for your support. Certainly, we welcome any

         22  initiative that will improve our radio

         23  communications on the fire ground and certainly with

         24  our EMS personnel.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, you've
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          2  got 100 percent support, and maybe we could get

          3  whatever is necessary into the budget of the

          4  upcoming fiscal year.

          5                 But I just would have to take issue,

          6  though. Assuming in the interim, until we solve that

          7  problem, it seems to me it would still be

          8  meaningful, putting aside the other issues we raise,

          9  if we could overcome the technology, I would like to

         10  know, for instance, in the district where I have not

         11  only high-rises but a lot of walk-up, you know,

         12  mid-rises or low-rises, a lot of walk-up tenements,

         13  even if I can't get the information from the below

         14  grade situation, I would still be interested in

         15  knowing how long it takes your personnel to arrive

         16  at the victims upgrade, because among other things,

         17  if I spot a problem in a particular area, maybe the

         18  need for improvement lies within the building, maybe

         19  it's a building issue, or an elevator issue or an

         20  access issue that could be remedied.

         21                 So, I just would urge you to consider

         22  that, you know, you don't have to have everything in

         23  order for a partial picture to be meaningful, I

         24  think it would be very meaningful, if we could, to

         25  have information only with respect to above-ground
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          2  locations.

          3                 And I just put that on the table,

          4  Madam Chair.

          5                 I mean, is there anything that I said

          6  that strikes you as incorrect? And wouldn't you like

          7  that information if we could do it, hypothetically?

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: We have a program in

          9  place since 1999 called the Field Feedback Program

         10  for EMS crews when they arrive -- well, for any

         11  incident. If they find out information which

         12  inhibits their ability to respond appropriately, bad

         13  address, bad cross street, difficulty in getting

         14  access, they document this information, it's

         15  forwarded up to operations. We evaluate it, we

         16  investigate it, and we take action to attempt to

         17  remedy that situation.

         18                 And over the last five years there

         19  have been significant amounts of information

         20  provided by our ambulance crews that helped us

         21  correct deficiencies, both in our CAD system, as

         22  well as bring to attention various property owners

         23  or building managers, ways that they can assist us

         24  in assuring a more appropriate response.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And do you
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          2  compile this field feedback information in some kind

          3  of formal presentation or document, or evaluation?

          4  Anything that you can give to us for us to --

          5                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: They're tracked and

          6  maintained in a formal database to ensure that

          7  people, crew members who provide us with information

          8  receive some sort of response that we're evaluating

          9  and looking at it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Could we get

         11  like a one-month report of your field feedback in

         12  response to get a sense, so that I don't have to

         13  belabor this at this time?

         14                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: We can surely provide

         15  you some information on types of situations that

         16  have occurred and actions that we've taken to remedy

         17  those.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, Madam

         19  Chair, I think that would be helpful. Again, that's

         20  great news and it goes back to my earlier point that

         21  information is critical, and the more information

         22  that we can get the better, and that's why if we

         23  could figure out a way to get time of arrival to

         24  victims, that could only help, it certainly can't

         25  hurt.
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          2                 My very last point, just on the

          3  multiple casualty situation. I appreciate your

          4  pointing that out. Clearly we could amend the bill

          5  to take account of that. I mean, the easy way of

          6  doing that is to require reporting in such a case to

          7  the first victim, or, you know, we could figure that

          8  out, and if we go forward, or as we go forward, I

          9  would say we'll certainly work with you on that.

         10                 And finally, really finally, the

         11  requirement for response times by City block,

         12  currently you keep statistics by EMS atoms (sic); is

         13  that correct?

         14                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: We keep statistics by

         15  borough, and then by EMS dispatch atoms.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And roughly

         17  how many typical City blocks are in an atom?

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: They're very

         19  significantly from sections of the City. You know,

         20  in areas of Manhattan it may be roughly 15 to 20

         21  square blocks, and it could be tremendously larger

         22  in areas of Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: All right. But

         24  it seems, again, if this is a concern, certainly

         25  there would be no problem with your providing a
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          2  report? However, we wind up requiring the report on

          3  the basis of atoms, that doesn't present a problem

          4  to you, does it?

          5                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: I don't believe it

          6  would present a problem to us.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, good. So

          8  we have solved at least some of the problems, and

          9  we'll work together to solve the rest.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         12  Tony Avella.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair. Sorry I was late. But I was here on

         15  time, so were you.

         16                 I guess I'm probably going to go over

         17  the same testimony because I did miss some of it.

         18  So, I read your remarks, and I'm curious, especially

         19  about Intro 533. If, in fact, the intent of the bill

         20  is just to get more accurate information about

         21  arrival time, why, and I'm sort of getting the

         22  negativity from your statement, why is the

         23  Department so against the intent of the bill? Just

         24  to get better accurate information as to when we

         25  actually fight the fire.

                                                            47

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I think certainly

          3  we're all in favor of getting accurate information

          4  and utilizing that information. The problem with

          5  measuring the time to putting water on the fire

          6  introduces way too many variables, and makes it a

          7  very subjective type of system that in the end will

          8  become somewhat meaningless.

          9                 There are way too many variables that

         10  enter into firefighting operations. The intent of

         11  the bill, the assumption of the bill as the first

         12  thing we do at a fire is automatically putting water

         13  on the fire. That's not the case. There are many

         14  other activities that can occur prior to us putting

         15  water on the fire.

         16                 Our efforts may be not even initially

         17  putting water on the fire. It might be putting water

         18  on an exposed building to protect the building in a

         19  vacant building. So, we're really not putting water

         20  on the fire, and maybe to protect someone who is

         21  exposed at a window.

         22                 There are too many subjective

         23  criteria that enter into the evaluation process and

         24  as a result that really would have no meaningful

         25  standard, and the statistics would basically be
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          2  worthless to us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I understand

          4  what you're saying, but common sense, I mean some of

          5  the questions that the Chair raised that Council

          6  Member Gerson raised, common sense says you get to a

          7  fire, you're in front of the building, that's when

          8  the time is calculated. It's your arrival time. It's

          9  40 floors let's say for that particular apartment

         10  building. There's a considerable time difference

         11  between actually getting in that building to the

         12  40th floor. Even if you're doing things on the rest

         13  of the building, would it make common sense to

         14  devise some sort of statistic calculation that takes

         15  that into account? Even if you had two sets of

         16  numbers, one arrival at the building and one that

         17  actually gets you to the floor? I mean, to me that's

         18  just common sense, and I don't understand --

         19                 CHIEF HAYDEN: And if we had that

         20  statistic, what would we do with it?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, that in

         22  effect explains how fast it takes you or how long it

         23  takes you.

         24                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, we already know

         25  that it takes longer to put water on the fire on the
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          2  50th floor or on the sixth floor than it does on the

          3  second floor.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: But you don't

          5  know by how much.

          6                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No, we don't.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: You don't know

          8  how often does this occur.

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: But in recognition of

         10  the delay inherent in putting water on a fire in a

         11  high-rise building, that you use an example, we

         12  commit a tremendous amount of resources, all right?

         13  On that initial report of a structural fire in a

         14  high-rise building. And that enables us to begin our

         15  operation effectively and quickly and safely, using

         16  that amount of resources that we assign to a 10-76,

         17  which is report of a structural fire.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I hear what

         19  you're saying, but I don't get it. To be perfectly

         20  honest, I don't get it. I don't understand the

         21  resistance. Why not just have this information

         22  readily available?

         23                 I mean, is the concern that the

         24  statistics may show that we're not getting there

         25  faster and we need to have more units responding to
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          2  the fires? I don't know, but until you give us that

          3  information, we're in the dark.

          4                 Let me finish. And I'm perplexed by

          5  your opposition. To me this is just common sense.

          6                 CHIEF HAYDEN: The issue I think here

          7  is the accuracy of the information that we're going

          8  to gather. I'm all in favor of collecting accurate

          9  information to do valuable analysis.

         10                 In the current system that we operate

         11  in, the statistics that we generate will be somewhat

         12  questionable, and over your question about the

         13  validity and the accuracy of the information. And if

         14  you don't have accuracy, then what's the use of

         15  gathering statistics?

         16                 If there was a method to accurately

         17  record this somehow, exclude all of the variables

         18  that go into firefighting operations, I'm all in

         19  favor of it. But it doesn't exist.

         20                 The way we would compute it, based on

         21  this intro bill, with all the variables that go into

         22  firefighting operations, we're going to just

         23  generate meaningless statistics. That's all they're

         24  going to tell us, is it takes us longer to get water

         25  on the 50th floor than it does in the second floor.
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          2                 We recognize that this is a vertical

          3  city, and there are difficult type of fires we

          4  engage. We have the highest level of manning

          5  anywhere in the country in recognition of that

          6  issue.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: All I'm saying

          8  is, and I think you sort of alluded to it in your

          9  last response, that you'd like to have that, you

         10  don't think that it exists, so why not work with the

         11  Council and this Committee to develop how we do

         12  that, so that this bill can go ahead.

         13                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, no, if you can

         14  provide us with a way to accurately compile that

         15  information, and we'll work with you on that. I'm

         16  not objecting to accurate information.

         17                 What I'm saying is the current way

         18  that it's proposed, as an indicator of our

         19  performance out of a fire is inherently flawed in

         20  its concept.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Have you made

         22  a suggestion as to the way we proposed it? Have you

         23  made a counter proposal how it can be calculated

         24  better?

         25                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, if there's
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          2  technology out there that can accurately do this,

          3  I'm all in favor of researching it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, you're

          5  talking about two different things. Now you're

          6  throwing in technology. That wasn't what we were

          7  just talking about.

          8                 I mean, technology involves a dollar

          9  figure. If we knew what the dollar figure was, I

         10  think you'd have our support. But I think we're

         11  talking about what's the methodology to get at that

         12  statistic.

         13                 So, why not work with the Committee

         14  and let's do it.

         15                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Fine.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That was a

         17  wonderful response.

         18                 Let me move now to ask some questions

         19  on diversity and thank my colleague for inquiry.

         20  Because I think that ultimately, as the nature of

         21  how we reside and how businesses located in this

         22  City becomes more and more modernized, we're going

         23  to begin looking more closely at methodology and

         24  particularly with respect to the public. There is a

         25  looming questionmark out there with respect to
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          2  response times, and I think in order to resolve a

          3  number of the issues of how, you know, what time

          4  wasted, what did, you know, what is the optimum time

          5  for rescue and first responders, we're going to have

          6  to look at this methodology and I'm glad to hear

          7  that we have an open mind for doing that.

          8                 I want to ask some questions about

          9  the written exam. I was wondering, Chief, Chief

         10  Hayden, whether beyond physical strength, what

         11  characteristics should a great firefighter possess?

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Certainly we want men

         13  of good character, men and women of good character.

         14  We would like the Department to be representative of

         15  the population of the City of New York. We look at

         16  their employment records, their educational record

         17  and background, and certainly if they fit the

         18  requirements for entrance into the Department, we

         19  willingly accept them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: When you talk

         21  about characteristics, should they be brave? Are

         22  there like some particular characteristics that you

         23  found have been consistent with those men and women

         24  have been successful?

         25                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, certainly there's
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          2  a degree of bravery that has to come in when you

          3  realize you are going into, what is viewed by just

          4  about everybody, a very dangerous occupation.

          5                 We need people that are physically

          6  fit, that are particularly agile. We give a physical

          7  examination that we feel is job-related, and anybody

          8  that passes that examination is placed on the list.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. Well, were

         10  there any other types of characteristics that in

         11  your history you have observed, beyond bravery,

         12  beyond physical? You know, what else goes into

         13  characteristics of a great firefighter?

         14                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I'd say --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Average, every

         16  day firefighter.

         17                 CHIEF HAYDEN: As opposed to an

         18  average, every day firefighter?

         19                 I think the people that come to this

         20  Department are a highly motivated group of

         21  individuals whose mission is to protect property and

         22  save life. You have to give anybody who has that as

         23  a value a very high rating.

         24                 We have a long and competitive

         25  examination, a long waiting list, so of people
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          2  coming on there, we have an opportunity to look at

          3  them. I think we get a very quality candidate that

          4  comes to the Department.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Well, let

          6  me ask, do you feel that in your experience the

          7  written exam can assess those characteristics that

          8  you just had mentioned?

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I think the exam is

         10  constructed to be job-related. There is an issue of

         11  the exam being pertinent to the ability to do the

         12  Department (sic). Certainly you mentioned

         13  intelligence, and people who are motivated and want

         14  to enter the Department prepare themselves for the

         15  written examination.

         16                 There is a job related examination

         17  that DCAS has validated.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And there's a way

         19  that you can detect from that someone of good

         20  character, someone who is highly motivated, someone

         21  who is brave?

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, no. Taking that

         23  from a written examination is certainly very

         24  difficult. But usually the result of the

         25  examination, the people are highly motivated,
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          2  intelligent people with good character.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. So, do you

          4  believe that the FDNY's written exam accurately

          5  assesses firefighting ability?

          6                 CHIEF HAYDEN: The written exam?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I would say it's job

          9  related. It does construct questions that pertain to

         10  firefighting.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And it accurately

         12  assesses firefighting ability?

         13                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, you also have a

         14  physical examination, and I think Commissioner White

         15  is nudging me off on the left here, so obviously

         16  he'd like to take center stage. I'll pass it over to

         17  him.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: First of

         19  all, that was not the idea. I don't wish to take

         20  center stage. But I do want to point out that these

         21  are decisions, and I understand asking the Chief

         22  because he's had a lifetime of experience, but

         23  asking some of these questions, I mean it's a DCAS

         24  decision.

         25                 Don't forget, we get a list from DCAS
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          2  and when we get that list, they're all ranked. And

          3  they've made that decision that these people have

          4  passed the written and the physical tests. It's a

          5  job-related test and that kind of thing.

          6                 I'm sure you know that, but I just

          7  wanted to point it out because I thought the Chief

          8  just might have needed that moment.

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Thanks, Doug.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, it's one

         11  thing for DCAS to be an administrative testing

         12  entity. There's another thing for those who do the

         13  direct application of the occupation to be able to

         14  distinguish about what it takes to be a real good

         15  firefighter in the City of New York.

         16                 I don't think the DCAS Administrator

         17  has a moment or a minute real experience, real-time

         18  experience in being a firefighter, so I would prefer

         19  to hear from those in the Department who have been

         20  there day in and day out and made a career out of it

         21  really affect the viability of something.

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, when we put the

         23  firefighters on, they go through a one-year

         24  probationary period, including three months at the

         25  Fire Academy.
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          2                 They are closely scrutinized, as far

          3  as motivation, ability and willingness to conform to

          4  Department standards. Anyone who is not willing to

          5  do that will either be terminated or they usually

          6  resign themselves.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good looking out.

          8  Good looking out.

          9                 Do you believe that it's possible for

         10  a written exam to test for things like bravery, the

         11  ability to work on a team or even common sense?

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I think you can

         13  test for common sense. I think you can test for the

         14  ability to work with others. There are methodologies

         15  to do that. I don't think anyone can test for

         16  bravery until you're actually tested on the fire

         17  ground.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And does the

         19  current exam you have really give you a sense that

         20  the candidates who are on that exam, who have taken

         21  the exam and have passed it, really have common

         22  sense, and that they work well in teams?

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I think they work very

         24  well in teams. The whole concept of a company in the

         25  Department is based on the cooperative effort of a
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          2  group of firefighters, a team, a company.

          3                 Anybody who goes through the Fire

          4  Academy and goes through the probationary period,

          5  will go through some rigorous training, and be

          6  getting somewhat of an indication of the type of

          7  difficulty they might face in fires. Those who don't

          8  have the very intangible bravery, as you speak

          9  about, usually wash out, as we say.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me ask a

         11  couple of questions about ranking.

         12                 Is every person on the FDNY's hiring

         13  list capable of being an effective firefighter?

         14                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, we wouldn't know

         15  that until we put them through the Academy and they

         16  passed the physical examination.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 So, those who get onto the hiring

         19  list have reached a certain standard, though?

         20                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And that standard

         22  leads you to believe that once they go down a

         23  certain course of next steps, they would be the

         24  candidates that would be most likely considered,

         25  right?
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          2                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          4                 Does relative ranking on the FDNY's

          5  hiring list reflect differences in merit and fitness

          6  to be a firefighter?

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: The physical

          8  examination will determine the fitness. The merit is

          9  based on your rank on the list.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. So that if

         11  you're, let me see, 95th on the list and someone

         12  else is 92nd on the list, how does that ranking

         13  differ?

         14                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, that's the

         15  standing as a result of taking the examination and a

         16  compilation of their score on the physical

         17  examination.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         19                 CHIEF HAYDEN: On the given standing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. So, what is

         21  the difference? The person who got 92 versus the

         22  person who got 95, the person who is 92 is less than

         23  the person who got 95?

         24                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No, I wouldn't draw

         25  that conclusion.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          3                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me see, so

          5  much to learn.

          6                 Okay. As you know, a candidate can

          7  earn up to 25 bonus points above his or her combined

          8  score on the written and physical exams. Does being

          9  the child of a police officer or a firefighter who

         10  died in the line of duty make that person a better

         11  firefighter?

         12                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I'm not sure on your

         13  first statement that that's correct. They receive

         14  points, veterans points. If they were in the

         15  military.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         17                 CHIEF HAYDEN: They get an additional

         18  five points on the examination if they were City

         19  residents.

         20                 I don't know about where the 25

         21  number comes up.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, there is --

         23                 CHIEF HAYDEN: If you're talking about

         24  the legacy points, to put everything all together,

         25  it's highly unusual for somebody to get 25 points.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. But you can

          3  now begin because there is another category, that is

          4  a category of being the brother of a firefighter who

          5  denied in 9/11, that that's also a category which

          6  may or may not over -- you know what I'm saying?

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes, there's a legacy

          8  consideration allowing them entrance of the

          9  examination, assuming that they score high enough on

         10  the written portion of the examination and the

         11  physical portion of the examination. There is some

         12  consideration there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, here's the

         14  question I have: If the legacy of the Department has

         15  been one that has not been that diverse. Doesn't

         16  that perpetuate a certain level of non-diversity?

         17                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, the statement you

         18  make I guess would say, we have very few members

         19  that come on to the Department as a result of a

         20  legacy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         22                 Do you feel that any of those, in and

         23  of themselves, and I know there are bonus points,

         24  but does that make a difference, do you think, about

         25  whether in fact you'll be a better firefighter or
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          2  not?

          3                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No, that doesn't really

          4  come into that consideration. By being a legacy

          5  candidate, does not ensure that he's going to be as

          6  good a firefighter as his father was or uncle or

          7  whoever, brother. There is no measure there

          8  indicated.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Often times big

         10  shoes to fill. Take it from me.

         11                 CHIEF HAYDEN: I've got two sons on

         12  the Department, they've got some big shoes to fill.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Since relative

         14  ranking on the FDNY's hiring list does not

         15  accurately reflect the differences in firefighting

         16  ability, and everyone on the list is capable of

         17  being an effective firefighter, why not move towards

         18  something more akin to a pass/fair system?

         19                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I don't know if

         20  everybody on the list is capable of being an

         21  effective firefighter, the measurement of whether or

         22  they're an effective firefighter will be their

         23  ability to complete the training academy in the

         24  probationary period that they have to undergo.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, if that is
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          2  the ultimate determinate, then if you have a list of

          3  pass/fail, doesn't that essentially bring you the

          4  candidates that are most likely, right? Because

          5  those who pass go on to the next phase. Those who

          6  fail, oh well, right? So, what do you think?

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: On the physical?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: No. On the

          9  written exam. Or it could be on both, quite frankly.

         10  Because right now you're using a numerical, right?

         11                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Right. There's a

         12  numerical score given for both the physical

         13  examination and for the written examination.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And that

         15  numerical does not accurately reflect, as we talked

         16  about, with the 95 and the 92.

         17                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So if you went to

         19  a pass fail.

         20                 CHIEF HAYDEN: A firefighter or a

         21  candidate, I should say, that scores 92, and if you

         22  were to compare him to a candidate that scored a 98,

         23  does not necessarily ensure that the candidate with

         24  98 would be a better firefighter. However, that's

         25  the method they use.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right, because

          3  then there's the next series, right? Of things they

          4  have to go through.

          5                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Did you see

          7  anything that would preclude us moving to a

          8  pass/fail system?

          9                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, I'd like to just

         10  pass this off to Commissioner White. He's been

         11  heavily involved with the examinations. I know he

         12  just is waiting to answer this question, so...

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner White.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you,

         16  Chief.

         17                 Again, it's my understanding, from my

         18  discussions with DCAS, that anyone who passes the

         19  written test, let's just go through this for a

         20  second, at 75 or above, can be an effective

         21  firefighter, number one. So, I don't know how low

         22  you go on it, but 75 and above, that's my

         23  understanding.

         24                 I don't know, I can't answer anything

         25  about the physical exam and whether or not you can
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          2  have a pass/fail there. I really think that the

          3  methodology or whether that's possible is really a

          4  question DCAS has to answer, you know. So, my

          5  feeling is, I don't disagree with anything the Chief

          6  has said, and I certainly don't know anything about

          7  being brave around fires, and I don't know what

          8  DCAS, the decision that they would come out on this,

          9  don't forget, this is a whole field,

         10  psychometricians, that's what they do, they study

         11  this, they make job analysis and they determine what

         12  makes a good firefighter.

         13                 But I don't know whether or not you

         14  could have a pass/fail on a written, pass/fail on a

         15  physical, and the only question is, is how do you

         16  distinguish at that point?

         17                 Now, I believe there are some

         18  jurisdictions, what they do is they would do that, I

         19  believe, and then they have a lottery. I think

         20  that's what happens.

         21                 I don't know DCAS's position on that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you find

         23  out DCAS's position on that for me? And I just

         24  wanted to get a sense of whether there is a

         25  conversation held between the FDNY and DCAS in
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          2  ensuring that, one, the goals in terms of personnel

          3  for the FDNY can be met by the current system they

          4  have in place, or whether it actually works against

          5  some of what you're trying to achieve in terms of

          6  diversity. Has there been that kind of discussion?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: I think

          8  there has been many conversations over the three

          9  years that I've been at the Department about this

         10  kind of issue. I was trying to answer your specific

         11  question about pass fail.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: And often

         14  those conversations don't necessarily take place

         15  with the permission of DCAS also, so everybody is

         16  not involved.

         17                 As you well know, policy decisions,

         18  whether it's the Fire Department or DCAS, you know

         19  are a range of people having input and then a

         20  decision is made.

         21                 I don't want to pre -- so, yes, a lot

         22  of discussions have gone on about this, you know,

         23  about the issue of diversity and things of that

         24  sort, and the thing about the Fire Department is, of

         25  course, we don't need people, we have many people

                                                            68

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  who want the job, what we have a problem with is we

          3  don't have enough diversity.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right which is

          5  why I think it's important now that the

          6  Commissioners involve themselves in a discussion

          7  about what's happening with this examination.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: I will

          9  certainly take back to the Commissioner that you

         10  would like for us to find out from DCAS what their

         11  position is on a pass/fail.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes, because

         13  based on your own experiences, as the Chiefs have

         14  already stated, there are many factors, and the

         15  overriding ones don't seem to be in the weight of

         16  the written exam, because you have a rate at which

         17  you don't go below to begin with.

         18                 So, the whole issue of standards and

         19  substandard versus anything else, would already be

         20  eliminated based on the examination itself, and then

         21  the differences between the ranking orders of the

         22  exam, because someone has to come after the next

         23  person, does not demonstrate that that individual

         24  does not, whoever is on that list, would not make a

         25  great firefighter, and someone at the top may not be
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          2  able to work in teams and someone who is just below

          3  them may be even better at working in teams.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: The only

          5  thing I do want to emphasize, though, is DCAS has

          6  validated this exam, so, you know --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm not debating

          8  that. I'm not debating that they did. And I don't

          9  know what year they did it in but obviously it

         10  doesn't reflect the goals of the current

         11  administration of the FDNY. There's a discrepancy.

         12                 So, there needs to be a discussion.

         13  There really needs to be a discussion.

         14                 Finally, let me just ask about the

         15  appointment, in the context of appointment to the

         16  Fire Academy, could you please tell me what is a

         17  consideration case?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: Well,

         19  first of all, let me just say there's a personnel

         20  review board to review what's called consideration

         21  cases. Consideration of cases are cases where a

         22  person has some kind of blemish or issue on their

         23  record which would raise questions about maybe a

         24  criminal infraction.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: Maybe a

          3  youthful arrest. It may be drinking problems, or any

          4  kind of problems dealing with the law.

          5                 And, so, there is what's called a

          6  personnel review board, and the personnel review

          7  board meets about four times a year. It's a grouping

          8  of both uniform and civilian personnel, and most of

          9  the people sitting right here, I believe everyone

         10  sitting right in front of you, are on it as well as

         11  others.

         12                 And so we review the case, we go

         13  through the record, it's first reviewed by

         14  personnel. They go through it and they make a

         15  recommendation. The Personnel Director is also on,

         16  as well as the Commissioner for Legal Affairs is

         17  also on, and also the Head of Training. So, I think

         18  that's about it, and well as the rest of us here.

         19  And we make a decision whether to appoint, whether

         20  to appoint with a stipulation, that is to say that

         21  they will -- they may be subject to some kind of

         22  testing. They may be subject to, they will certainly

         23  come in and speak to a Chief. They will try to

         24  assess their demeanor evidence, with respect to

         25  whether they would make a good firefighter. We might
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          2  make a decision that it needs further review, or we

          3  might make a decision that we will delay the

          4  appointment for a year.

          5                 Don't forget, the list is running for

          6  four years, so a person comes the first year, let's

          7  see how they work out on their job. They're working,

          8  let's see what happens.

          9                 So, we make our decision about it.

         10  And we can also turn them down.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: How are

         12  consideration appointments made typically?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: Well, most

         14  of them are approved. That's what you're asking?

         15                 I can give you some statistics on it.

         16  We hired 327 on the past list, list 7029.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So these were

         18  people who were on the list?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: Who were

         20  on the list and who came up as consideration cases.

         21  So, 327 were approved in the sense that either with

         22  stipulation, et cetera, but they were appointed. We

         23  did not appoint 134.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are there FDN

         25  regulations regarding these appointments? Or is that
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          2  something that's done subjectively within the

          3  Department?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE: You know,

          5  I really don't know. Maybe the Chief knows.

          6                 It's long before I got there and I've

          7  never seen them.

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: No. The process is that

          9  the review board, members of the review board will

         10  vote on the specific categories that Doug White just

         11  mentioned, whether to appoint or deny, appoint with

         12  a stipulation, interview with a staff chief. And at

         13  that time -- and he is reviewed at the time he is

         14  due for appointment to the Department. So, prior to

         15  his appointment, his personal folder is forwarded to

         16  the personnel review board. It is reviewed by all

         17  the members of the Board and then the vote is taken.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, let me just

         19  ask, as you go down the list and you have these

         20  consideration cases, do you follow the same ranking

         21  order of the list in order to address them?

         22                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Well, when their list

         23  number comes up and they are due for appointment.

         24  They all go through the same candidate investigation

         25  process that every firefighter candidate undergoes.
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          2                 When there is some type of blemish on

          3  his record, whether it be an employment problem, an

          4  educational problem, or an arrest problem, then he

          5  would be submitted by candidate investigation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: He or she.

          7                 CHIEF HAYDEN: He or she, yes. And

          8  then the personnel review board would evaluate the

          9  candidate.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         11                 Well, I want to thank you for being

         12  so forthright in your answers today. Certainly on

         13  the two pieces of legislation that we heard you loud

         14  and clear about some of the challenges that it

         15  poses, and looking at what the benefits would be,

         16  not having certain factors in place. We're going to

         17  be speaking with some other entities that are

         18  involved in this as well who have raised some

         19  concerns.

         20                 And then finally to say, Commissioner

         21  White, that I would ask that you have Commissioner

         22  Scoppetta reach out to the Commissioner of DCAS and

         23  really look at this whole issue of the ranking of

         24  exam, of the written exam, in particular, and

         25  whether given the fact that other jurisdictions do
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          2  utilize the pass/fail system, whether that can be

          3  applicable in the City of New York.

          4                 And I want to thank all of you

          5  gentlemen. Chief Peruggia, thank you so much for

          6  your input. Chief Cassano, Dan, thank you very much,

          7  and have a pleasant afternoon.

          8                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Thank you, Chairperson.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Oh, Chief Hayden,

         10  thank you very much.

         11                 CHIEF HAYDEN: Thank you for everyone

         12  on the Board there. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to call

         14  our next panel for testimony at this time.

         15                 I'd like to call Patrick Bahnken from

         16  the Uniformed EMTs and paramedics. Jim Slevin from

         17  the UFA. Glen Corbett, who has been one of our

         18  academic consultants. The fire alarm dispatchers,

         19  David Rosenzweig. And Dr. David Goldschmett, of the

         20  NYU Downtown Hospital.

         21                 We have testimony here from the

         22  Uniformed Firefighters -- excuse me, Uniformed

         23  Officers Association that will be read into the

         24  record at the end of this panel. I know you

         25  gentlemen have been waiting to give your testimony,
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          2  and I appreciate your patience, because we really

          3  need to get your insights in this matter.

          4                 Oh, okay, we have to add Thomas

          5  Eppinger. Okay, we would like to have you, with the

          6  Uniformed EMS Officers, with this panel.

          7                 And you can begin by just stating

          8  your name and affiliation for the record.

          9                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Thank you, Madam

         10  Chair. I'm Dave Rosenzweig, President of the

         11  Uniformed Fire Alarm Dispatchers Benevolent

         12  Association.

         13                 The other members of the panel have

         14  given me the permission to go first.

         15                 I'd like to answer some questions.

         16  Those of you who know me, I've spent 35 years in the

         17  Fire Department, an Emergency Communication

         18  Professional, and I represent Communication

         19  Professionals, and I have a very good working

         20  knowledge of how the communication systems work,

         21  both in New York City and in the nation.

         22                 I'm also quite proud of the fact that

         23  New York City has the lowest central office

         24  processing time in the nation, .43 seconds.

         25                 In regard to Councilman Gerson, in
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          2  regard to, and I'd just like to target, because you

          3  ask questions and I think it's very important that

          4  you understand where we came from. The mobile data

          5  terminal was actually an innovation that helped us

          6  rather than hurt us.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When you say

          8  the mobile data, that's the button he was referring

          9  to?

         10                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: It's called a mobile

         11  data terminal, okay? In the seventies, when we

         12  literally were getting beat up every single minute

         13  of the day, 22 hours a day, the radio was

         14  overburdened, because obviously when you have to

         15  talk on the radio, the communication needs, and you

         16  have so many instances, the radio becomes

         17  overburdened.

         18                 So, the mobile data terminal was an

         19  innovation, not only in New York but from the

         20  national point of view, that allows actually fire

         21  companies, ambulances, to actually perform their

         22  tasks with no radio activity, which allows us the

         23  freedom of freeing up the radio so that we can do

         24  the primary and emergency radio work.

         25                 If you would implement this type of
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          2  improvement in regard to monitoring the arrival time

          3  at an apartment, as an example, which I am not

          4  opposed to, okay? We at this particular point don't

          5  have the technology to switch back to audio, rather

          6  than for data. Basically what you would be doing, is

          7  overburdening the radio systems of both EMS and Fire

          8  all over again, which we've eliminated.

          9                 I mean, try to understand what we're

         10  doing. A third of the calls we have in the New York

         11  City Fire Department now have no audio

         12  communication, a car fire, a CFRD call. They don't

         13  talk to us at all, they just push buttons and they

         14  go back to the fire house.

         15                 Now, the purpose of that is resource

         16  management. If you have to wait to tell me that

         17  you're available to respond to another incident, and

         18  the radio is overburdened, it could take a minute to

         19  two minutes to get the message in.

         20                 So, that's why this system was

         21  designed to allow companies to become available

         22  immediately without talking, and then the computer

         23  picks up that information and we send them to an

         24  additional or another incident.

         25                 So, the audio way of doing it, if it
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          2  actually is implemented, has to be modernized almost

          3  immediately, otherwise we're going back to the

          4  seventies and we really don't want to do that, okay?

          5  I mean, that's what I think you have to understand

          6  about where we are with the technology.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If I may, and

          8  I appreciate that. I just wanted to emphasize that,

          9  again, at this hearing, this is a fact-finding

         10  hearing in large part and part of the thrust of my

         11  questioning was specifically to see how we could

         12  advance the technology so we could expand and extend

         13  the seventies innovation into the OO's of this

         14  century so that we could do the equivalent at the

         15  scene of the fire.

         16                 I wasn't necessarily suggesting that

         17  we go back to audio by any means. I specifically

         18  asked and requested an evaluation as to available

         19  technology so we could do precisely what you

         20  suggested. So, I appreciate that historical

         21  clarification, that's very, very helpful.

         22                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: And in light of that,

         23  the technology, I want you to understand, okay, that

         24  the New York City Fire Department in suppression is

         25  using the computer, including the keyboards that was
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          2  installed in 1979, okay? What you're trying to do is

          3  to work us into the 22nd Century, we're trying to

          4  break our way out of the 20th, okay?

          5                 So, when you talk about funding, we

          6  have a desperate, desperate need, okay? To upgrade

          7  the technology that we have right now, so that we

          8  can improve response time, which is one of the

          9  issues that I've been fighting for for years, which

         10  was to merge EMS and fire in the five separate

         11  communication offices and work together to try and

         12  deliver a better service to the citizens of New

         13  York. Where now they came up with a $1.3 billion

         14  project, and I think we can use that money to

         15  improve response time, rather than build a facility

         16  that is actually a target, okay? Which nobody is

         17  stopping at this particular point, which is an

         18  absolute disaster. All the potential of a disaster,

         19  for many, many reasons, okay? To merge prior EMS and

         20  PD, into a single facility, with the hopes of

         21  building a second facility.

         22                 And why do I say it like that?

         23  Because PSAC-II is 20 years still waiting for the

         24  building to be built. So, even though they say

         25  they're going to have a second facility, that could
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          2  be 20 years away from now.

          3                 So, you're going to have fire, EMS

          4  and PD in a single facility, which obviously is not

          5  the way to go for many reasons. And the primary

          6  reason is overburdening.

          7                 911 is overburdened. You asked a

          8  question about can we monitor the time, the

          9  processing time? The answer is it's in the Mayor's

         10  Management Report, and, yes, the answer is yes. Not

         11  only do the PD monitor the time that it takes to

         12  process their calls, but they also monitor those

         13  calls that get a recording, and I think they have

         14  given that information to the public safety or the

         15  prior committee many, many times, and basically it

         16  involves the number of times the phones ring with

         17  nobody answering it, okay? And they get a recording,

         18  and one of the things that I had been trying to

         19  impress upon everybody is the fact that when your

         20  house is on fire, you don't want to model this into

         21  a recording, nor do you want to do that when

         22  somebody has a gun to your head.

         23                 Obviously when somebody has a gun to

         24  your head you're not going to be calling, okay? But

         25  when your house is on fire and your family or people
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          2  living above you, their lives are in jeopardy, you

          3  dial 911, you get a recording. By merging everybody

          4  together and having the existing 911 call-takers,

          5  who do a fantastic job, considering what's expected

          6  of them, to pick up the additional burden of both

          7  the fire call takers and the EMS call takers,

          8  without increasing the number of people, which is

          9  what's in the design, what you're going to get is

         10  more recordings.

         11                 You're not going to get a faster

         12  response time. You're going to increase the Central

         13  Office processing time by a dramatic number. We're

         14  not talking about a second here. We're talking about

         15  minutes, okay?

         16                 So, that's a real issue that the City

         17  Council really needs to look at to stop this project

         18  before it goes any further and has no potential of

         19  being a success, for a lot of different reasons.

         20                 In '93 we went through the World

         21  Trade Center, obviously a terrible time. In 2001

         22  9/11, we went through another World Trade Center.

         23  Had we had a single consolidated Fire Department

         24  facility, we would have been over burdened,

         25  overwhelmed, and we would not have been able to pay
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          2  attention to the rest of the City of New York.

          3                 As any of you have read the McKinsey

          4  report knows, that one of the highlights of my

          5  people, the career emergency communication

          6  professionals, was is that we were able to maintain

          7  the five-minute response time with 65 percent of the

          8  City's resources in one particular incident.

          9                 And that we do because we have five

         10  separate facilities and we're not overwhelmed.

         11  Manhattan is very busy. Staten Island should not

         12  have to suffer.

         13                 If you put everybody together,

         14  Manhattan is busy, Staten Island will suffer. You

         15  don't have a choice because you can only do so much

         16  at a certain amount of time when you're grouped

         17  together.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Dave, could you

         19  try to sum up everything?

         20                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I will. I apologize.

         21  I just wanted to, just to basically get it. And in

         22  regard to the times that you asked for, EMS time

         23  starts actually when the 911 operator activates the

         24  call. Their systems are linked, the Sprint system

         25  and the EMS system are linked together

                                                            83

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  technologically for timing. So, you can get that

          3  also.

          4                 Anyway, let me just move on. I just

          5  would like to mention one thing in regard to

          6  diversity. I've been around for 35 years. This is my

          7  anniversary. My son is on the Fire Department. One

          8  of my goals was, because I believe in the civil

          9  service system and I believe in middle income, we

         10  basically have nothing to offer new people. I've

         11  been subsidizing my son every single month, okay,

         12  with his rent so that he can live in the City of New

         13  York, okay?

         14                 We are not, no longer, civil servants

         15  are no longer middle-income people. They're low- to

         16  maybe moderate-income people, okay? And we have to

         17  understand the rentals in the City of New York, what

         18  we're expecting of the people in the City of New

         19  York, and the commitment.

         20                 Let me just tell you that when you

         21  become a civil servant, like I did 35 years ago, I

         22  made a personal commitment that I was going to

         23  devote my life to doing whatever I'm doing, and the

         24  City only gives me a pension and some health care

         25  when I walk out the door, okay? Of which I
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          2  contributed most of the money to the pension system.

          3                 You know, the City likes to make

          4  believe that they did it. They didn't do it. We did

          5  it. We contributed the money to civil servants,

          6  okay?

          7                 So, if you want to diversify the

          8  Department, you have a very, very difficult task.

          9  You have to first of all create an environment where

         10  people want to be civil servants, okay? And once you

         11  do that, and it doesn't have to be in the Fire

         12  Department, which is the point that I wanted to

         13  bring out. When you develop that culture of civil

         14  service culture, of middle income culture, maybe the

         15  first person is a conductor or a motorman, and his

         16  son becomes a firefighter or a policeman, it's the

         17  civil service culture that we need to cultivate,

         18  which is why we need a civil service high school. We

         19  can overcome the testing problem, we can overcome

         20  the physical need problems, if we give them the

         21  proper facility to do the basic learning, and let

         22  them have the opportunity to learn the civil service

         23  skills, which is test taking. If you don't write 100

         24  on the firefighters' test, you're going to get

         25  called three and a half years. Nobody is going to
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          2  sit around their house three and a half years

          3  waiting for somebody to call you, it's as simple as

          4  that. You have to go out and get a job. When you

          5  find a job, you find out you didn't need to run into

          6  a burning building to make less money, and that's

          7  the situation. That's one of the reasons why we have

          8  the diversity problem. It's trying to get people

          9  into the Department through a culture, civil service

         10  culture. Civil service is dead in New York City,

         11  unfortunately. You look at the number of people who

         12  take tests, not the firefighter or police desk,

         13  because they're, basically from a salary point of

         14  view they're more at the top, but entry level jobs

         15  that my grandparents did, or my parents, a school

         16  teacher, whatever it is, and it was a culture, it

         17  was a middle-income culture. It's gone in New York

         18  City. And that's what you really need to improve, if

         19  you want to have diversity.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thanks, Dave.

         21                 Pat.

         22                 MR. BAHNKEN: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         23  My name is Patrick Bahnken. I'm the President of the

         24  Uniformed EMTs and Paramedics of the New York City

         25  Fire Department. You have my written testimony, so I
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          2  will leave that stand for the record the way it is.

          3                 I just wanted to discuss a few points

          4  that were raised here.

          5                 Council Member Gerson --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me one

          7  second. Was that distributed? Because I don't have

          8  Mr. --

          9                 MR. BAHNKEN: It should have been

         10  distributed. I left it. Maybe it's right there on

         11  the Sergeant-At-Arms' desk. The folder, manila

         12  folder? That should be it.

         13                 Okay, so you now have my written

         14  testimony. There were a few things that I wanted to

         15  point out, though. Council Member Gerson raised the

         16  idea of having a button on the EMS portable radio,

         17  the walkie-talkie, if you will, that could signal

         18  that we reached the side of the patient. Well, it's

         19  a brilliant idea. It's a very simple, technological

         20  fix. But I learned something else here today, and I

         21  guess my remarks today will be what I learned at the

         22  City Council hearing.

         23                 I've been to other hearings here,

         24  over the course of the last six years of my

         25  presidency. And I've been to several hearings
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          2  regarding the effectiveness of the radio

          3  transmission capabilities of both firefighter and

          4  EMS radios.

          5                 And every time I've been here I've

          6  heard the Administration say that these are the

          7  greatest things from sliced bread. These radios are

          8  amazing.

          9                 Today I learned these radios don't

         10  transmit from indoors. Well, considering the

         11  majority of our call volume is done indoors, the

         12  majority of firefighting is done indoors, it might

         13  be logical to get radios that transmit indoors.

         14                 Tens of thousands of patients a year

         15  are treated in the subways. We can't transmit. This

         16  is nothing new. But in the past we've been told

         17  there is not a problem. Today I learned, for the

         18  first time on the record, before this City Council,

         19  I learned that our portable radios don't work. We

         20  knew that at 9/11. Everybody denied it, and here

         21  today we learned that our new age radios, the new

         22  ones, don't work.

         23                 We have a panic button on every EMS

         24  radio, that if we're being assaulted, we're under

         25  attack, and it happens, people overdose, people
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          2  become confused because of various medical

          3  conditions, they become violent, violent,

          4  emotionally disturbed patients. People on PCP or

          5  crystal meth amphetamine, if you've never wrestled

          6  with one of these people, believe me, it's quite an

          7  experience.

          8                 So, I can press that little red

          9  button and assume that everybody knows that I'm

         10  under attack and that troops are on the way to help

         11  me, but you know what? The signal never reaches

         12  outside the building. So, adding this other button,

         13  yes, we can add the button, but until we address the

         14  fact that the signal will never go outside the

         15  building, it's really a mute point.

         16                 We have to upgrade our radio signals.

         17  We have to upgrade our radio technology.

         18                 And just because I brought this out

         19  in previous testimony, the EMS handy-talkie radios

         20  had traditionally had Police Department Division

         21  frequencies on every EMS handy-talkie radio.

         22                 Years ago under the previous Fire

         23  Commissioner, those frequencies were unilaterally

         24  removed. Initially it was said, well, we need to

         25  have better control of our EMS resources. I
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          2  contended then that it was just territorialism and

          3  testosterone. The Fire Commissioner didn't want us

          4  talking to police officers. It wasn't about

          5  operations.

          6                 They made an argument that they

          7  didn't want ambulances to self-dispatch themselves,

          8  but if I hear that you're having a heart attack over

          9  the police radio, because we learned today that

         10  police operators processed the call sooner than EMS

         11  operators do, so if I hear that you're having a

         12  heart attack here in the City Council and I'm two

         13  blocks away, wouldn't you rather I started driving

         14  here instead of waiting for the EMS dispatcher to

         15  process the call and give it to me?

         16                 I mean, really, we're talking about

         17  minutes and minutes in the world of medicine is the

         18  difference between life and death. And God forbid

         19  anybody should ever get shot, and it's happened in

         20  these very Chambers, if you ask any medical

         21  professional, and I know we have a doctor on the

         22  panel here, in a gunshot victim, 90 percent of the

         23  time the difference between life and death is what

         24  we call hot lights and cold steel. You don't need to

         25  be waiting for an ambulance to arrive, you need to
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          2  be the best that you can hope for that you get shot

          3  in the surgical suite. So, minutes makes a

          4  difference, and we shouldn't be allowing

          5  territorialism and testosterone to extend that

          6  period of time.

          7                 Another thing that I learned today,

          8  which was very important to me, is that I heard

          9  testimony, the way I heard it was we don't want to

         10  calculate the additional minutes that a vertical

         11  response will add, because if we do that, then we

         12  will absorb several seconds of additional time

         13  because of verbal transmissions. So, think about

         14  that. We'd rather not look at the several minutes

         15  because it will add several seconds if we track it.

         16                 That doesn't make sense to me.

         17                 Many EMS units currently back up

         18  every MDT transmission with a verbal transmission,

         19  because not all MDT signals go through. It's not

         20  uncommon to hear an EMS borough dispatch ask a unit

         21  what is their status, have they arrived on scene?

         22  Because the MDT signal may be interrupted based on

         23  volume.

         24                 The last thing that I wanted to

         25  comment on was the issue of diversity.
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          2                 Oh, one other thing. The NFPA does

          3  have a formula to calculate vertical response time.

          4  It was presented at a conference in New Orleans

          5  about two years ago I was there. So, it's out there.

          6                 But the last thing was diversity. As

          7  the President of the Uniformed EMTs and Paramedics,

          8  more than 55 percent of my membership, and I have

          9  more than 2,500 members, more than 55 percent

         10  qualifies as either minority class candidates or

         11  female. We are the most diverse section of the Fire

         12  Department. We do 75 percent of the responses. We

         13  responde side by side with police officers and

         14  firefighters every day to emergencies, yet we are

         15  continued to be treated as second class citizens in

         16  the Department.

         17                 The Supreme Court issued a ruling

         18  upholding the City Council's Local Law 19 which was

         19  granted to the EMTs and paramedics uniformed status

         20  that said we deserve to be recognized as equals by

         21  the City, equal to police officers and firefighters.

         22                 We respond in the same 911 system, we

         23  are an equally essential, yet unique service when it

         24  comes to the public safety of the citizens of this

         25  City and our visitors.
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          2                 So, I'll ask you, Councilwoman

          3  Clarke, you're minority and a female: If you looked

          4  at this agency and you see that the largest grouping

          5  of minorities and females is treated as second class

          6  citizens, are you going to rush right in to join?

          7                 It's a cultural issue, and it's not

          8  at the rank and file. It's not with the

          9  firefighters. It is how the overall administration

         10  of this City treats the largest collection of

         11  minorities and females in this agency. And if they

         12  are treated disparately, they're not going to rush

         13  right in to get the job. They do a dangerous job, it

         14  is equally vital, they should be treated as equals.

         15  And until they are, no one is going to knock down

         16  the door to get in, because they're going to talk to

         17  other friends who already are there, and their

         18  response is going to be, all right, I work for EMS

         19  and they treat me like crap, why would you want to

         20  come on board?

         21                 So, that's something that has to be

         22  addressed. It's something that needs to be brought

         23  out to light. It's a huge issue that affects our

         24  ability to properly recruit.

         25                 And perhaps the last thing is college
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          2  credits, and I'm sure that my colleague here from

          3  the firefighters union will address this in more

          4  detail. But if I have to go out and get 60, 70

          5  college credits to become a firefighter to make 30-,

          6  40,000 dollars a year, why wouldn't I become a

          7  computer programmer and make $70,000 a year.

          8                 Like Dave said, the Civil Service

          9  system is being eroded because we're setting

         10  standards that are unattainable for many lower

         11  working class poor in this City, to have them get up

         12  and out.

         13                 This used to be an opportunity. Now

         14  we set up standards that are unattainable to them,

         15  they're never going to come. And I guess the last

         16  thing I learned is that I was six years old when

         17  David became a fire alarm dispatcher. So, I thank

         18  you for the opportunity to testify today, and I'll

         19  answer any questions you may have of me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. Let us

         21  hear from the rest of our panel, we'll do a final

         22  questioning round.

         23                 Thank you for that. Jim.

         24                 MR. SLEVIN: Thank you. Madam

         25  Chairwoman, Council Member Gerson, thank you for
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          2  allowing me to testify here today.

          3                 I also have submitted my written

          4  testimony, but I'm just going to move through it. A

          5  lot of the points were already made. In fact some of

          6  my points were already made by the Chiefs that sat

          7  up here. It was the first time I ever heard them

          8  acknowledge that there is a vertical response time.

          9  That there is a different response time for a second

         10  due unit and a third due unit. And it would be nice,

         11  you know, it doesn't take any technological upgrades

         12  when the Mayor releases his management report, if

         13  this was explained with the response time. Maybe

         14  they can put an asterisk next to response time and

         15  say this only represents the time any fire unit goes

         16  up on the scene.

         17                 Now, that fire unit, that could be a

         18  Battalion Chief, it could be a ladder company, or it

         19  could be an engine company. The Battalion Chief by

         20  himself is not going to begin Fire Department

         21  operations, nor can the ladder company.

         22                 The most important thing that happens

         23  is when the engine company pulls up on the scene,

         24  stretches that hose line and begins to put water on

         25  the fire to extinguish that fire.
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          2                 More lives are saved by a properly

          3  placed hose line than any other piece of

          4  firefighting equipment. So, it would not take any of

          5  these technological upgrades, and it would be nice

          6  to see if they would acknowledge that in their

          7  reports when they put out their response times. They

          8  already keep track of the first due unit, the second

          9  due unit, the third due unit. Like I said, every

         10  unit that shows up on the scene, they keep track of

         11  it, and I would not believe that it would take any

         12  effort for them to release those response times to

         13  the public, but the sense that I got is they

         14  admitted that they already know there is a delay in

         15  these other response times, but they don't want the

         16  public to know that there is a delay in these

         17  response times.

         18                 The most important thing they like to

         19  put out there is the response time. Whenever there

         20  is a fatal fire or a major fire, they will always

         21  like to hang their hat on, well we had an acceptable

         22  response time or a good response time.

         23                 Recently there was an article in New

         24  York Newsday showing that the response times in

         25  December and January this past year had increased
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          2  dramatically. Now, the Fire Department press office

          3  has done an excellent job of misstating the facts

          4  and spinning it for their own purpose. They have

          5  adopted an unofficial motto of never let the facts

          6  get in the way of a good spin. And to illustrate

          7  that, when they were questioned on these increased

          8  response times this past January, their response

          9  was, well, there was a snowstorm in January and that

         10  increased the response time. But the truth of the

         11  matter is, there was more snow in January of '04 and

         12  more snow storms than in January of '05. So, they

         13  don't want the public to know what the real truth

         14  is, that there has been a systematic downsize in the

         15  Fire Department and its resources by closing fire

         16  companies and reducing staffing in the past and this

         17  has an overall effect on public safety, and we

         18  support this intro 533 that will have better

         19  accountability of the management of the Fire

         20  Department. They always like to hold the

         21  firefighters accountable, and they're always willing

         22  to go after them when something happens, but they

         23  don't like to be held accountable themselves. So,

         24  that is the reason that we support this intro, and

         25  we are more than willing to work with you and we're
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          2  happy to hear that Chief Hayden has said that they

          3  will offer their assistance in working with you in

          4  developing the system that we need to put in place

          5  so that the public cannot continually be mislead and

          6  this Council cannot be mislead. And I thank you for

          7  allowing me to testify, and if you have any

          8  questions, I'd be happy to answer them.

          9                 DR. GOLDSCHMETT: Madam Chairwoman,

         10  Councilman Gerson, members of the panel, thank you

         11  for letting me testify here. I'm Dr. David

         12  Goldschmett, the Director of the Emergency

         13  Department of EMS at NYU Downtown Hospital.

         14                 We are part of the 9/11 dispatch

         15  system. I am speaking only on proposal 540. The

         16  issues that were brought up about standardizing your

         17  monitoring across the country, EMS has a unique

         18  feature to it, which is that there are two

         19  standards, you have the operation standard and the

         20  medical standard. While they may be able to argue

         21  that they are following the standards of operations,

         22  our medical standards have not fared well when

         23  compared across the country.

         24                 Studies that have been done about

         25  survival rates particularly against the City of
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          2  Seattle, we've done quite poorly in our survival

          3  rate from the cardiac arrest, than they have in

          4  those other cities. A plausible explanation could be

          5  the fact that with the verticality of our City, the

          6  response times, which are the way that those two

          7  cities are compared, gives you a skewed picture

          8  since the response time, which is the 1084 in

          9  Seattle does not have a long time after that before

         10  the patient is addressed, wherein New York City it

         11  may.

         12                 That disparity between the two

         13  studies may be explainable by something like this

         14  and should be investigated on that route.

         15                 One of the things that was brought up

         16  earlier is that the time in no other place is more

         17  critical than when you have a cardiac arrest, a

         18  trauma, any of those things. If you have a traumatic

         19  arrest, you have four minutes from the time of that

         20  arrest to brain death, regardless of whether CPR is

         21  being utilized or not.

         22                 In a cardiac arrest that same four

         23  minutes, unless CPR is being done by the bystanders.

         24                 So, if you are arriving at the scene

         25  within three minutes, and then take another four to
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          2  five minutes to reach that patient, you have

          3  exceeded the limit of success.

          4                 Basically the other category that I

          5  wanted to speak to on the need for this proposal is

          6  the fact that using the system of keeping the 1084

          7  when they arrive on the scene, and making a

          8  comparison between that number and when they arrive

          9  to treat the patient, would give you a way of

         10  tracking the different areas within the City that

         11  have particular problems.

         12                 In the Bronx we've secured buildings

         13  in the projects that may take a longer time to get

         14  into. In some of the midtown highrises, the downtown

         15  highrises. In these areas if that were determined to

         16  be a problem, you would make the response time to

         17  the 1084 even shorter so that it could build in

         18  extra time for that additional time requirement.

         19                 So, let's move to the logistics where

         20  they were saying this is not something that could be

         21  done under the present system.

         22                 Well, the Fire Department came up

         23  with a new system for the tracking of EMS charts,

         24  the ACR, which is the Ambulance Call Report, they

         25  are now scannable into an optical data system. This
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          2  was done so that a manually prepared chart could be

          3  put into a computerized system to obtain a database.

          4                 That system is being employed right

          5  now. Therefore, the 1084 is already being listed on

          6  that manual, ACR, being scanned into the database.

          7                 All they need to do is add another

          8  handwritten number, which by the way those reports

          9  are usually prepared after the fact, that second

         10  number would indicate when the patient was actually

         11  seen. When you put that data into the optical

         12  scanning, you can help with the difference between a

         13  1084 and the time that the patient was actually

         14  seen.

         15                 You don't need to verify that the

         16  1084 on the ACR matches the 1084 in the MDT, but you

         17  could also do that. You could link those two

         18  databases together, compare the two, and then adjust

         19  your number.

         20                 But the real important one is the

         21  difference between the 1084 and when the patient was

         22  seen. And then that time could just be added to the

         23  response times. They could keep their 1084 as their

         24  way of noting the operation side of it, and then

         25  this new number could be used for the medical
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          2  component of it. I think those are all of the issues

          3  I can see doing, but I think that's a viable system,

          4  it could improve our data collection, could improve

          5  our way of knowing where to put our resources, where

          6  to improve response time and still do it within the

          7  system we have and not spending the money on

          8  technology.

          9                 MR. CORBETT: Chairwoman Clarke,

         10  members of the Council Committee on Fire and

         11  Criminal Justice Services, my name is Glenn Corbett,

         12  Assistant Professor of Fire Science at John Jay. I

         13  have also written testimony here which your staff

         14  has a copy of, and I'll just summarize some of my

         15  recommendations.

         16                 Basically I stand in support of this

         17  bill. I think there are some issues, though, that do

         18  need to be addressed, and I'll get to those very

         19  quickly here.

         20                 But let me just say that there is an

         21  issue of resources in the Fire Department, and I

         22  think that has to be addressed as well. If you need

         23  another copy, I'll get some more later on.

         24                 There is an issue of resources in the

         25  Fire Department, you know, if this protocol goes
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          2  into effect and is utilized in the Fire Department,

          3  you're going to have to look at that first and

          4  decide what kind of, if there are technological

          5  needs or if there are personnel needs, to not just

          6  collect the data at the location emergency, but also

          7  more general collating that information and putting

          8  in useful form. I think that has to be a fundamental

          9  understanding that you've got to start at that

         10  point.

         11                 Now, getting specifically into the

         12  two proposals, one of the issues, of course, is a

         13  national standards. It's been mentioned before, an

         14  NFPA 710, National Fire Protection Association

         15  standard basically for deployment of fire and EMS

         16  resources, does have very specific numbers, in terms

         17  of response times. They've been talked about at

         18  previous hearings, but let me just refresh

         19  everyone's memory.

         20                 Basically the NFPA 1710 calls for a

         21  response time of eight minutes for a total

         22  contingent of firefighters needed for that

         23  particular type of fire, and usually assume the

         24  standard that's an average type house fire,

         25  something along those lines, but there is a

                                                            103

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  contingent of people there necessary within eight

          3  minutes, it also applies to EMS as well, that within

          4  eight minutes they do have to have an ALS unit on

          5  the scene.

          6                 It does not address the issue of, the

          7  vertical issue that we've talked about here earlier,

          8  in terms of height of the building, the standard is

          9  completely silent on that issue. And although you

         10  are going to attempt to collect that data, this is

         11  unchartered waters. There's not a lot of cities that

         12  I'm aware of that are actually doing this,

         13  especially in the fire side, I know that better than

         14  the EMS side, but there's no many cities that are

         15  actually doing that.

         16                 So, what I would recommend

         17  specifically is that you amend the bill to call for

         18  the first full alarm assignment, not just the single

         19  engine and the single ladder, but the full first

         20  alarm assignment, whatever is dispatched to that

         21  particular fire.

         22                 I think that's much more useful

         23  information, because my sense, in having served on

         24  the Fire Closings Committee, as representing the

         25  City Council, it leads me to believe that there are
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          2  errors here in the City that, although we look at

          3  average numbers and things kind of get diluted,

          4  because we don't know that every specific location

          5  in the City is properly served in accordance with

          6  the standard basically. And that leads me to my

          7  second point, that when you talk about collecting

          8  average response times, I would get out of the word

          9  average and just do the total response times,

         10  because that's the way the standard looks at it. It

         11  doesn't say that a particular part of Manhattan has

         12  a response time of six minutes, and another part of

         13  Queens has a response time of 11 minutes and

         14  somewhere else has nine minutes, that if your

         15  Citywide average is let's say 7.5 minutes, that

         16  that's okay.

         17                 What it says in the standards, that

         18  do you have to -- 90 percent of the responses in the

         19  City have to meet that eight-minute criteria

         20  basically.

         21                 It's not an average of eight minutes,

         22  it's actually a maximum of eight minutes. Of course,

         23  one caveat here, the one minute of what they call

         24  turnout time, which is actual time to get people on

         25  apparatus and out the door. So, I would recommend
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          2  that that also be changed, that you look at not

          3  average response times, but the actual response time

          4  for all the responses.

          5                 Why is this useful? Because I think,

          6  you know, having looked at historically, and I won't

          7  belabor this point, but the City has relied on a

          8  computer model we talked about here, the RAN model

          9  for fire station locations, deployment, things like

         10  that. I personally believe it's fundamentally

         11  flawed. There are issues with it that aren't at --

         12  they collect a certain amount of data but it doesn't

         13  get particularly at the heart of the issue in a lot

         14  of cases, and unfortunately we've been locked into

         15  that model for years, and I would argue that when we

         16  look at issues of do we have an optimized location

         17  for all of our units in the City, you have to go in

         18  thinking, you know, where do we get the data from?

         19  And we don't have that right now. I haven't seen it

         20  myself. Apparently the Fire Department does collect

         21  some data that I haven't seen. All I've looked at

         22  are basically average response times for particular

         23  companies and things like that. But, again, it's an

         24  issue that we need to be concerned about. Have we

         25  actually looked at the entire City and decided based
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          2  upon population demographics, conditions and things,

          3  have we put the fire houses in the best locations

          4  throughout the City? And I don't think we have. I

          5  don't think we are anywhere close to that. I think

          6  we're tied to history here, you know, especially in

          7  certain older parts of the City that have fire

          8  houses, very close together. Some are still

          9  necessary, perhaps some aren't. There are other

         10  parts of the city that I think are underserved, and

         11  I think the response times are too long.

         12                 Especially if you have, one issue

         13  that was not raised today is also the issue of

         14  multiple alarms in a particular area and stuff,

         15  where you have to call in resources from a much

         16  larger distance.

         17                 So, in closing, like I said, I think

         18  this is a great idea, which you're looking at.

         19                 There are some challenges here I

         20  think to collect this data, but I think it's a

         21  critical piece of information that we need to use

         22  for master planning here for fire protection and EMS

         23  service here in the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. And

         25  Thomas Eppinger.
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          2                 MR. EPPINGER: Thank you. My name is

          3  Tom Eppinger. I'm the President of the Uniformed EMS

          4  Officers. We represent the Lieutenants and Captains

          5  that lead pre-hospital care for the Fire Department.

          6                 Madam Chairperson Clarke, Council

          7  Member Gerson, thank you very much. You have my

          8  testimony. You can read it at your convenience.

          9                 Just to reiterate some things that my

         10  colleagues here have said. There are also some

         11  things I'd like to point out.

         12                 One, I am very happy today to finally

         13  hear that the Fire Department has admitted that

         14  there is a radio issue.

         15                 For the past 16 years of my career

         16  with EMS, I've worked in Midtown Manhattan and the

         17  Harlem and Washington Heights.

         18                 And if there is an expert on vertical

         19  response, it is me. Spent numerous times walking up

         20  and having delayed response that was never

         21  recognized, or bringing to our supervisors issues

         22  why there was issues with our response that were

         23  never answered.

         24                 The issues with the radios. Why we

         25  want NYPD back in our radios. They have more
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          2  repeaters. We have a lack of repeaters, so NYPD's

          3  radios work in almost every building. Ours don't

          4  because of lack of repeaters.

          5                 I can tell you, I live in Staten

          6  Island, the Staten Island EMS radio does not work at

          7  my house. I live in a townhouse. It doesn't

          8  transmit. It's not acceptable. People might -- you

          9  know, if someone is being assaulted, if they need

         10  assistance, if they have a critical patient, that

         11  call will not go out. They'll have to get on my

         12  telephone, that's not necessary.

         13                 Some of the issues with the

         14  dispatching. I was a dispatcher for two years, and I

         15  can tell you that they do have the information when

         16  NYPD gets the call and gives it to us. You can go to

         17  any EMS station, we have computers with this

         18  information. It shows when NYPD gets the call and

         19  turns it over to us. And at times there could be a

         20  two-minute delay.

         21                 And that's not reflected in our

         22  response. It's also not reflected in our response if

         23  there is no ambulance available. It gets put on

         24  hold.

         25                 The only response that is actually
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          2  shown is from the time the call is dispatched to the

          3  ambulance to the arrival in front of the location.

          4  There is a lot of unreported response time here. The

          5  minute the time it takes to go from NYPD, to the

          6  time it takes our people to enter it, to the time it

          7  takes for that ambulance crew to make it up to that

          8  call.

          9                 The issue with the SAEDs, we have a

         10  technical staff --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry,

         12  what is --

         13                 MR. EPPINGER: Oh, I'm sorry. The

         14  Semi-Automatic Defibrillators. We do have a way of

         15  correcting the time, the people in the field. I was

         16  a supervisor for four years at a battalion. We don't

         17  change that time. They have technical personnel that

         18  could, when it gets maintained adjust the time, and

         19  we won't touch it, we'd rather not. They could make

         20  that exactly the time of the computer-assisted

         21  dispatch time. They have that ability. The only time

         22  we get involved in changing it is daylight savings

         23  time. But they have the ability to change it to the

         24  exact time that they want.

         25                 I think that working in Midtown
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          2  Manhattan for four years as a lieutenant, there's a

          3  lot of issues with our response that have never been

          4  addressed. Fire has an excellent system on how they

          5  address building inspections, so people have that

          6  information, the firefighters, when they respond to

          7  a fire. We don't have that. We do have what we call

          8  "premise histories," on certain locations, like the

          9  United Nations, Macy's at Herald Square, but there

         10  is a lot more buildings in this City that are

         11  unique. High-rise office buildings. Depending on the

         12  type of the day, what entrance you can use, what

         13  will be open, who you go to, what elevators you can

         14  enter with the stretcher, things like that. That's

         15  things that the Fire Department should concentrate

         16  on for us to make our response to the patient, be

         17  the side of the patient who responds faster. And

         18  that's something we could concentrate on, you know?

         19  And it could be as simple as someone reporting to

         20  the Department, you need to look at this building,

         21  an officer goes in, and I've already offered this to

         22  Chief Peruggia, we go in, we look at the building,

         23  we say we know the measurements of our equipment, we

         24  could use this elevator, we could ask the staff, and

         25  it goes into a premise history, and any time that
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          2  address is entered, that information goes up into

          3  the MDT of the ambulance crew. And that's very

          4  valuable. They could really utilize that and they

          5  don't. Or update it.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. I

          8  would just like to acknowledge that sitting in our

          9  audience here is Minority Leader, Mr. James Oddo,

         10  former member of our Committee, but I'm glad to see

         11  he is sitting in today, because I know this has a

         12  special place in his heart.

         13                 I have a number of questions -- I

         14  don't want to hold you guys, but there's a brief

         15  statement by the uniformed fire officers that I'd

         16  like to read into the record. The statement of

         17  Captain Peter L. Gorman, President of the Uniformed

         18  Fire Officers Association.

         19                 It says: "Thank you for the

         20  opportunity to address the City Council ones more on

         21  these important issues of public safety.

         22                 The Uniformed Fire Officers

         23  Association has on several occasions testified in

         24  favor of legislation that would improve the way

         25  response times to fire incidents are calculated, and
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          2  we speak in favor of the proposed legislation today.

          3                 But changing the way response times

          4  are reported will not solve the serious problems

          5  facing the people of this City. The problem is the

          6  Bloomberg Administration has deliberately downsized

          7  the Fire Department to the point where it is a

          8  smaller, cheaper, slower Fire Department. The truth

          9  is always in the budget.

         10                 Only recently Mayor Bloomberg

         11  announced his preliminary budget, and he projects

         12  another 35 million dollar reduction in FDNY spending

         13  for the Fiscal Year 2005/2006.

         14                 Spending for the Fire Department for

         15  FY 2005 is estimated to be 1,054,000,000. Spending

         16  for FY '06 will be 1,019,000,000, he says.

         17                 Worse, the Mayor projects that FY

         18  '07, '08, '09 spending at a flat line of

         19  1,036,000,000.

         20                 In plain English, Bloomberg is saying

         21  all of the cuts he has made in the FDNY budget since

         22  he came into office will remain in place, and the

         23  Department will have to implement new cuts as yet

         24  unspecified. A smaller, cheaper, slower Fire

         25  Department gets even smaller, cheaper and slower for
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          2  as long as he reins in City Hall.

          3                 Two years ago he sent Fire

          4  Commissioner here to say closing eight engine

          5  companies would result in an average one-second

          6  increase in response times Citywide. No public

          7  official has ever been so wrong on a critical public

          8  safety issue.

          9                 Since six engine companies were

         10  closed May 25th, 2003, response times have

         11  skyrocketed. Mayor Bloomberg offers no believable

         12  rationale for crippling the Fire Department. He

         13  dismisses all of the evidence and says there have

         14  been no adverse impact on public safety. Tell that

         15  to the families that are burnt out of their homes on

         16  a daily basis.

         17                 We respond to an average of 76

         18  structural fires every day. Bloomberg's Preliminary

         19  Budget also shows a funded headcount of 11,154 for

         20  the five fiscal years from FY '05 to FY '09. Let the

         21  record show that the FDNY had a headcount of 11,334

         22  uniformed members on the morning of September 11th,

         23  2001.

         24                 The plain fact is the Mayor believes

         25  the City can get by indefinitely with several
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          2  hundred fewer firefighters that we had on the

          3  morning the twin towers were brought down.

          4                 But we are experiencing more serious

          5  in the last few years. We are responding to more

          6  total incidents and our response times are

          7  suffering. The time has come for the City Council to

          8  stand up to City Hall and fully fund the Fire

          9  Department. You can start by using payments in lieu

         10  of taxes by the real estate industry. Bloomberg's FY

         11  2006 budget directs $46 million in pilot payments to

         12  the Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation, a paper

         13  authority he created to fund a $300 million stadium

         14  on the West Side.

         15                 Ironically, proponents of the West

         16  Side Stadium are advertising the fact that a stadium

         17  would bring more money for the Fire Department, but

         18  the reality of the Bloomberg budget shows exactly

         19  the opposite.

         20                 The ability of the Fire Department to

         21  meet public safety demands will be compromised

         22  unless adjustments are made to future budgets. And

         23  this is from Captain Peter L. Gorman, President of

         24  the Uniformed Fire Officers Association.

         25                 Gentlemen, let me just ask a couple
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          2  of questions and get your response.

          3                 I want to thank you for taking the

          4  time from your busy schedule to provide us with the

          5  additional insights that we need to really craft

          6  what we need, I believe, moving forward, in the

          7  City, to address this whole issue of response time.

          8                 How does the way the FDNY measures

          9  response time compare with what is required by the

         10  NFPA? If any of you can respond to that? Because

         11  they're using that standard as, you know, a crutch

         12  in a way to say that they can't get any more detail.

         13                 MR. EPPINGER: I only mentioned a few

         14  in my remarks, but there are very specific targets

         15  that have to be met in that standard, and I think,

         16  you know, there's actually, not only is there

         17  targets to be met, but also targets to be measured,

         18  and there is actually very specific criteria on

         19  reports that have to be written for what they call

         20  the authority having jurisdiction, which is

         21  basically the leadership of the City basically on a

         22  quarterly basis, to update them as far as how

         23  they're meeting the objectives of that 90 percent

         24  eight-minute requirement. And if they're not, why

         25  not? What are they going to do to address it? And I
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          2  think that really speaks to the whole issue of

          3  master planning and the desperate need that the Fire

          4  Department has for such a document that I don't

          5  believe exists at this point.

          6                 So, the NFPA, like I said, is pretty

          7  clearcut. I mean, these numbers are in there, and,

          8  you know, if it's desired, it can be done. I mean,

          9  the whole thing is right in that document.

         10                 MR. SLEVIN: If I can just make an

         11  additional comment on that NFPA standard that they

         12  so eloquently pointed to in their response times

         13  today, one of the things they failed to mention is

         14  that same NFPA 1710 standard also says that in an

         15  area of high density or high hazard area, that there

         16  should be a minimum of five or six firefighters on

         17  every company.

         18                 So, they want to cherry pick here and

         19  there what they use, but they don't want to address

         20  the whole issue of the standard.

         21                 MR. BAHNKEN: I just wanted to add one

         22  last point, is that, you know, we should always keep

         23  in mind that these standards are minimums. Minimums.

         24  What is the least acceptable.

         25                 Now, I don't know about you, but in
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          2  my family, or in my life, I don't want just what is

          3  a very bare minimum. For example, if people tell you

          4  that it's acceptable to have an ambulance in eight

          5  minutes, but -- operationally, but medical science

          6  tells you that you're long since dead, then maybe

          7  the minimum operational standard is not what we

          8  should be striving for. We should be exceeding the

          9  minimum standard. We should work to exceed the

         10  minimum standards.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         12  gentlemen. The next question is, in what respects

         13  does New York City have unique fire safety

         14  challenges? I know that you could probably all give

         15  me a dissertation on that, but just give us a sense.

         16  Because again, you hear from the outset of their

         17  testimony, there was this comparative analysis with

         18  other cities around the nation, and I'm like, how do

         19  you even compare New York to these other cities?

         20                 MR. SLEVIN: Well, I think it's

         21  ludicrous to try and compare New York City to any

         22  other city. We are a unique City. There is no city

         23  anywhere else like it. We have more high-rise

         24  buildings, bigger high-rise buildings, taller

         25  high-rise buildings, with more square footage, many
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          2  older high-rise buildings that present their own

          3  challenges that firefighters and EMS has to deal

          4  with on a daily basis.

          5                 And in addition, the population

          6  density of New York City is, I don't believe it's

          7  met anywhere else in this country, and the daytime

          8  population, we have a commuting population, unlike

          9  any other City in this entire country, I believe

         10  it's somewhere in the neighborhood of 4 million

         11  people commute into the City every day, and no other

         12  City has to deal with these challenges. No other

         13  City has the terrorist targets that New York City

         14  has. Just today information was released that the

         15  bombers in Madrid, Spain had sketches of Grand

         16  Central Terminal, so it just further illustrates the

         17  fact that New York City will continue to be the

         18  number one terrorist target in the country, and we

         19  have to continually give adequate resources to our

         20  first responders to deal with these challenges every

         21  single day.

         22                 DR. GOLDSCHMETT: One of the other

         23  issues also is that, as far as the EMS and fire

         24  system go, it is a continuum of all of the systems

         25  put together. It is well known that the hospital
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          2  systems and the EMS systems function together, in

          3  terms of both a disaster and as far as emergency

          4  response. The hospitals are already complaining of

          5  the fact that their cutbacks and their closings have

          6  forced issues and problems within the medical

          7  system. If you compound that with the problems that

          8  are changing with the EMS system and the cutback

          9  there, you are now exponentially raising the issues

         10  because you have two systems that are both being

         11  compromised at the same time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: How might changes

         13  in how we measure firefighting response times affect

         14  firefighting strategies or the allocation of

         15  firefighter responses -- excuse me, resources.

         16                 MR. BAHNKEN: Chief Hayden made an

         17  incorrect statement here today when he said that --

         18  I believe he said that two engines and two ladders

         19  are sent on initial response. But that's not always

         20  the case. Originally there was a minimum response of

         21  one engine and one ladder company where to be sent

         22  on any structural fire call, and it wasn't until the

         23  UFA pushed the Department to make the minimum

         24  response, two engines and one ladder company, that

         25  they changed their policy, and this all went on when
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          2  the staffing cutback when they were reducing staff

          3  on 49 engine companies, because now the Department's

          4  own policies say that two engines must team up to

          5  stretch the first hose line. But if you're only

          6  sending one engine, what kind of message is that

          7  sending? That, well, you can't really stretch that

          8  hose line because you only have one engine, you

          9  don't have an adequately staffed engine company.

         10                 So, keeping better track of the other

         11  responding units will, maybe it will mean that in

         12  the future the Department will send a minimum of

         13  three engines or four engines on the initial

         14  response.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And the same

         16  question, okay, Dave.

         17                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: This is the issue

         18  that we've been dealing with in regard to the four-

         19  and five-man engine companies. We know that by

         20  having a four-person engine company, you immediately

         21  reduce your availability of responding units to

         22  additional incidents, including CFRD. Because when

         23  they have four firefighters, they have to send an

         24  additional company.

         25                 Our response times would be improved
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          2  if all engine companies in the City of New York had

          3  five firefighters, and we would be able to provide

          4  better prehospital care also, because we would be

          5  able to do more CFRD calls.

          6                 A good number of the CFRD calls are

          7  not gone to by engine companies, because they're

          8  responding to fire instances or other instances

          9  where they normally wouldn't have to respond if

         10  everybody had five. So, you're really depleting your

         11  resources by not keeping the staffing levels at

         12  where they're supposed to be.

         13                 MR. BAHNKEN: I think your next

         14  question was going to be tracking response times for

         15  EMS resources.

         16                 You know, there is some sort of

         17  formula, and my colleagues would probably be better

         18  able to speak to it with regards to firematics that

         19  something along the lines that for every minute a

         20  fire burns, it doubles in size, or something to that

         21  nature.

         22                 And that's certainly, you know, bears

         23  on how you evaluate how you allocate resources. For

         24  medicine and emergency medicine especially, you

         25  know, if you do not study or do not track the
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          2  changes in demographics, you do not identify and

          3  address the inherent difficulties in accessing

          4  patients in certain buildings. I mean, you know, if

          5  you don't do it, you'll never know how you can

          6  improve your system.

          7                 You know there was a book by a doctor

          8  by the name of Samuel Shem called "The House of

          9  God," and he had certain rules in there and one of

         10  them always struck me funny, that if you never do

         11  the EKG, the patient doesn't have an arrythmia. In

         12  other words, if you don't look, it don't exist. So,

         13  you know, I think it's a pandoras box that people

         14  are afraid of looking at because they know what

         15  they're going to find, and it's evidence by recent

         16  announced changes. I mean, the Fire Department is

         17  now looking to put out response units with one

         18  paramedic and one EMT, and they say well the reason

         19  for this is we want to improve ALS response to ALS

         20  calls. They ignore the fact that they themselves

         21  stopped training paramedics for six years. For six

         22  years. We created a shortage of paramedics, and in

         23  order to respond to that shortage, we're going to

         24  lower the standard of care.

         25                 Now, think about this. Paramedics
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          2  have a 99 percent accuracy rate in diagnosing

          3  patients, whether it be medical, cardiac, diabetes,

          4  whatever, 99 percent accuracy rate. Certainly I

          5  would love 100 percent accuracy rate, but 99 percent

          6  is not nothing to be sneezed at. It's very good. And

          7  I think it speaks volumes to the professionals and

          8  the paramedics. EMTs receive maybe one-tenth of the

          9  training. They get about 150 hours, as opposed to

         10  1,500 hours, plus an internship that medics must

         11  complete.

         12                 And EMTs have a diagnosis rate of

         13  about 94 percent accuracy. And that's also very

         14  good, very good considering the amount of training.

         15  But do you want to introduce a higher rate of error

         16  into a more critical patient base, because there's

         17  going to be a blending.

         18                 That second paramedic is there to

         19  make sure that what I do is what needs to be done.

         20  The drugs that we administer can save your life.

         21  They can also end it. But it's by studying these

         22  things, and instead of knee-jerk responses that, all

         23  right, we need to get ALS to ALS scenes quicker, so

         24  we're going to dumb down the standard and water down

         25  the care that we provide is not the answer. So, to
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          2  answer your question, if we don't clearly identify

          3  the problems and if this gives us the opportunity to

          4  clearly identify where the problems exist, and

          5  adequately respond to them. Not just kneejerker

          6  response.

          7                 DR. GOLDSCHMETT: One of the other

          8  issues, just to continue on that, of the Mensimedic

          9  (phonetic), as it's been titled, program, of one

         10  paramedic and one EMT, is that we're talking right

         11  now about the most critical patients that the

         12  response times we're talking about are the most

         13  crucial and what will arrive at the scene and do the

         14  1084 down at the street will be a single paramedic,

         15  single EMT, that will then have to find their way up

         16  to the patient. Even if we log in what that time is,

         17  now you have to contact the second paramedic unit to

         18  come and assist that patient. So, because in those

         19  critical cases you need both paramedics, one has to

         20  be reporting the progress of the code over the radio

         21  to get your non-standing orders, and you also have

         22  to have two hands, one has to be starting the IV,

         23  while the other is giving the drugs, or whatever is

         24  going on.

         25                 So, we are really compounding that
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          2  bad time break in all of these watered-down

          3  programs. Oh, and by the way, just as a side bar, on

          4  the level of diversity, our small program has over

          5  86 percent minority and female.

          6                 MR. BAHNKEN: If I could just add to

          7  that. In testimony that the EMS has given at the

          8  REMSCO REMAC in trying to convince the physicians to

          9  allow this program to go through, the response from

         10  I believe Chief McFarlan was that if it is a

         11  critical patient they will match up two ambulances,

         12  so you'll have the second paramedic on scene. So

         13  what ends up happening is the scenario Dave talks

         14  about, instead of having one patient for one

         15  ambulance that should be there, we now have lost a

         16  second ambulance for the community, and it doesn't

         17  make sense.

         18                 Have the two trained people to go to

         19  the proper call and have it screened properly.

         20                 We went through this in 1996 with the

         21  PRU program, where we had an officer, a paramedic

         22  officer and a paramedic riding around in a

         23  non-transport vehicle. And what ended up happening

         24  was, instead of having, they took those personnel

         25  from transporting vehicles, and now put them in a
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          2  vehicle that couldn't transport, now you have to

          3  bring another ambulance in. You ended up with that

          4  process losing three ambulances.

          5                 Give us, we need the transporting

          6  vehicles, we don't need to split people up, we need

          7  to have the trained personnel that belongs together.

          8                 MR. EPPINGER: And just as one last

          9  point, in order to be an emergency room physician in

         10  the City of New York, you need to have minimum

         11  certifications, and they are advanced cardiac life

         12  support and pediatric advanced life support.

         13                 In order to be a paramedic with the

         14  New York City Fire Department, you have to complete

         15  the identical courses and receive the same

         16  certification.

         17                 Now, when you have one paramedic

         18  there, he's now doing the work that two doctors, two

         19  nurses, a respiratory therapist, would be performing

         20  in an emergency room, these guys are doing it in

         21  somebody's basement. You don't need one guy to do

         22  twice the amount of work. While that may be

         23  productivity in the realm of operations, as the

         24  doctor so excellently pointed out, it's not

         25  productive in overall patient outcome. And to just
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          2  capitalize on patient outcome, CPR is important. Our

          3  union is preparing to introduce a bill in Albany

          4  that will require that any student graduating high

          5  school, in both the State of New York and the City

          6  of New York, be required to complete a CPR training

          7  class. That is the difference in survivability, and

          8  it's done in Seattle Washington, and it's done in

          9  Boston, Massachusetts, and we are doing nothing

         10  compared to them when it comes to survivability.

         11  They are over 30 and 40 percent, we're not even

         12  making ten percent.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Council Member

         14  Gerson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Madam Chair, I must say that as I

         18  listen to each of these witnesses, I am reminded as

         19  to the incredible amount of wisdom and true

         20  brilliance that we are fortunate to have in this

         21  City as exemplified by this panel, and I just want

         22  to thank you. I just learned an incredible amount.

         23                 I know under our Chair's leadership,

         24  we are going to have a hearing, I believe it's in

         25  April with respect to staffing issues, and the
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          2  training standards, with respect to EMS response

          3  personnel. So, I look forward to that. You'll all be

          4  invited back, and I'm going to defer my questioning

          5  on that until that hearing.

          6                 I just want to briefly cover kind of

          7  to clarify a few technical points. Let's start with

          8  the radios, because I, too, am equally aghast with

          9  the inability to communicate inside to out until I

         10  have a better understanding of the history.

         11                 But in terms of the way to go for

         12  improvement, I've heard a couple of suggestions. In

         13  terms of the first step, do we try and get more

         14  repeaters for the FDNY system out there, or do we

         15  switch immediately to the NYPD frequency? If we do,

         16  will that create problems with NYPD? Or is there

         17  some third way that, you know, we need to proceed to

         18  do almost immediately?

         19                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I think part of what

         20  you feel the needs are, are actually being addressed

         21  now.

         22                 The City brought Channel 16 many,

         23  many years ago to 477 megahurtz, and the Fire

         24  Department is in VHF right now, which is 154

         25  megahurtz. When you raise your frequencies, the
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          2  efficiency becomes that much better, and also they

          3  will automatically have to have these additional

          4  pick-up receivers and repeaters installed when they

          5  switch over.

          6                 Hopefully we will accomplish this

          7  goal within two years, two to three years we'll be

          8  able to actually move into that.

          9                 So, what you're talking about has

         10  already been in the plan for the last five years.

         11  They bought Channel 16 five years ago, five or six

         12  years ago.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And your

         14  confident it will be put in place? You won't wait

         15  another five years?

         16                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I'll be retired by

         17  then.

         18                 MR. BAHNKEN: With regards to EMS and

         19  the police frequencies, obviously repeaters is one

         20  portion of it. We need more of them. And we cannot

         21  wait around forever for upgrades to occur.

         22                 They were able to remove EMS, Police

         23  Department frequencies, from EMS handy-talkies

         24  within a year. We could reinstall them within six

         25  months, if we really wanted to.
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          2                 Now, what's important here is that we

          3  need to be able, as the doctor said, to communicate

          4  to various groups, whether it be a medical control

          5  physician, whether it be police because we are

          6  wrestling with the violent emotionally disturbed

          7  person, whether it be Fire Department with other

          8  apparatus or the need to gain access. So, to put the

          9  police frequencies in to be done right away, and it

         10  could help us tremendously, at the very least in

         11  accessing and gaining information, I mean I'm

         12  rolling into a call now, I'm cold. I don't know that

         13  the shooting patient has been removed to apartment

         14  4H, I don't know that the cardiac patient is

         15  actually not in apartment 3C where the call

         16  originated from, that was one of their neighbors who

         17  called because his neighbor in apartment 3D screamed

         18  at him to call an ambulance, and they're all in

         19  apartment 3D but I'm knocking on apartment 3C

         20  looking for the patient, and everybody is doing CPR

         21  down the hall.

         22                 So, I mean those are all things that

         23  come over police frequency because there's a lot

         24  more cop cars out there, they'll get there quicker.

         25  That's all information that instead of it being

                                                            131

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  relayed to a police dispatcher, to an EMS

          3  dispatcher, an EMS dispatcher then processes it and

          4  puts it into the call history and then relays it to

          5  me, why have that extra minute?

          6                 Ray Kelly, the Commissioner of the

          7  New York City Police Department said on television

          8  that he never endorsed the idea of removing police

          9  frequencies from EMS radios. Never. As a matter of

         10  fact, emergency service unit cops have EMS

         11  frequencies on their radios now, so that they can

         12  communicate with us. There's the need. The only

         13  thing that keeps it from happening is testosterone

         14  and territorialism. The need to micromanage and have

         15  absolute control.

         16                 And quite frankly, when you're

         17  dealing with people's lives, attitudes are not

         18  needed.

         19                 MR. EPPINGER: If I could just add to

         20  that? The Fire Department has recognized the need

         21  for us to, when we arrive on the scene to talk to

         22  people who are already at the side of the patient.

         23  In our radios we have CFRD channel that the engine

         24  company, at the patient's side, will switch to, one

         25  of their members, and one of our members will switch
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          2  to it, so we can communicate and find out the proper

          3  information before heading up, because things could

          4  change, we might need a different piece of

          5  equipment, so why are they so hardheaded on giving

          6  us the Police Department back? It's a matter of us

          7  doing our job.

          8                 And the other issue is our safety.

          9  Our safety should be paramount to these guys. We're

         10  not looking to drive around the City with red lights

         11  and sirens blaring all over the place going to calls

         12  that don't exist, it's our safety. Our radios do not

         13  work. And that's the bottom line, and it's sad that

         14  I have to come here and tell you that. And they

         15  should recognize, that is only our only intention,

         16  our safety is paramount. Why doesn't the Staten

         17  Island radio work at my own house? It has to be

         18  addressed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You're saying

         20  the NYPD frequencies do work at some of the

         21  locations?

         22                 MR. EPPINGER: They work almost

         23  everywhere.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Including

         25  underground?
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          2                 MR. EPPINGER: Sometimes. Sometimes if

          3  you go into the subway, the distance will be a lot

          4  farther than the EMS radio.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Clearly this

          6  is a technical area.

          7                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Just to say, the

          8  areas underground that have good radio

          9  communication, they were programmed that way. They

         10  actually have the repeaters in the facilities

         11  underground.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's

         13  something we need to do.

         14                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Okay? Just like if

         15  you go into the Battery Tunnel, you're listening to

         16  News Radio 88 or whatever, they actually had the

         17  capability in the tunnel for you to continue to

         18  listen to the news channel. So, it's all doable.

         19  It's about money and priorities, okay? And they've

         20  been putting their money in the wrong places.

         21                 Consolidation is not what we need. We

         22  don't need to spend $1.3 million to prove we're

         23  wrong. We can spend a whole lot less, get more

         24  ambulances on the street, reduce the response time

         25  of ambulances, improve the radio system, and
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          2  actually have a call center just for medical

          3  emergencies and fire, and take the overburdened

          4  9-1-1 system and turn it into PD emergencies. That

          5  will get the ambulances and fire engines to the

          6  scenes of incidents that much faster.

          7                 The old 711 bill that was introduced

          8  about eight years ago by Walter McCaffrey actually

          9  was a panacea at that time. Other cities have done

         10  it, but we're still trying to make our 9-1-1 system

         11  work and it can't work the way they have it doing

         12  it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Madam

         14  Chair, I certainly think we need to follow up on

         15  these issues.

         16                 If I could just move on to one or two

         17  of the technical areas to wrap it up, because we're

         18  approaching a time constraint.

         19                 The testimony of the Department you

         20  heard earlier implied, or maybe more than implied,

         21  kind of explicitly suggested almost at least if we

         22  require with respect to ambulance responders, EMS

         23  responders, this additional notification at the time

         24  of the arrival, that we would somehow be losing

         25  precious minutes which we all agreed, or precious
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          2  moments, and we all know every moment counts, and we

          3  would wind up endangering lives. You know, your

          4  response to that.

          5                 MR. BAHNKEN: It's good for growing

          6  roses. It's pure fertilizer. Quite frankly, when I

          7  knock on the door, I mean I'm standing there waiting

          8  for somebody to open the door, my partner is

          9  standing there waiting for somebody to open the

         10  door, while I'm knocking, is it impossible that my

         11  partner has a working radio to key up the radio and

         12  say, you know, ambulance 9 Victor on the door, or at

         13  patient's side.

         14                 It's not like we're holding hands. We

         15  are required to operate independent of one another.

         16  There's a lot of work to do, but for me to key up a

         17  radio and say, give my ambulance number and say I've

         18  made patient contact, like I said, 15 seconds, maybe

         19  30 seconds on a bad day, then it goes back to the

         20  point I made earlier. We want to ignore the

         21  six-minute vertical response time, or the

         22  nine-minute vertical response time, because we don't

         23  want to absorb the 30 seconds it may take to report

         24  it.

         25                 DR. GOLDSCHMETT: And the other thing
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          2  is, as we showed, there is the back-up system, that

          3  you don't have to report if the radio is not

          4  working, if you don't have the time to do that, if

          5  you're otherwise occupied, it is later documented on

          6  the ACR and can be drawn back into the system from

          7  that side.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, that's an

          9  important --

         10                 MR. BAHNKEN: If I could just add, if

         11  you just look at your watch and just document the

         12  time, I don't know how that takes these precious

         13  moments that Chief Hayden was talking about.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: He's afraid

         15  we're going to be out of sync. You set your watch to

         16  WINS and --

         17                 MR. BAHNKEN: You know, you can set

         18  your watch. Most of us do. We try to figure it out

         19  with the computer to sync it with, to keep our

         20  times, but that's as simple as it is, with the

         21  radios that don't work, you just look at your watch

         22  when you enter the door. How simple is that? It's

         23  not that hard.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And then in

         25  addition to all of this, Mr. Rosenzweig is going to
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          2  design us this additional button.

          3                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Well, I think the

          4  real issue is that once we have a system in place,

          5  and technology is endless, we will find out that

          6  there is that vertical time, and then they're going

          7  to have to come up with a solution on how to

          8  overcome that vertical, and I think that's what

          9  they're more apprehensive about, rather than the

         10  ability to do it.

         11                 We can do it tomorrow, it's just a

         12  matter of saying we're going to start doing

         13  something, and we implement it at its inferior way

         14  and we move into the new technology and bring it up

         15  to the state-of-the-art. That's easy. But what are

         16  we going to do with the information afterwards? How

         17  are we going to get them to the 40th floor faster?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's right.

         19                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: That's their

         20  challenge. You see, we're doing it, we're doing the

         21  job, we going there, we're sending them, we don't

         22  have to improve that. They have to improve it. They

         23  can't. The only way they can improve that is by

         24  improving the number of resources, the number of

         25  people to cut down on the response time, cut down on
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          2  the central office processing time, so they get

          3  there that much sooner. That will automatically

          4  improve the vertical challenge.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: My last

          6  question, the Chief seemed to suggest the field

          7  response reports that were filed, you know,

          8  describing the conditions and any delays, he seemed

          9  to feel that that should suffice in identifying the

         10  problematic areas.

         11                 I'm not as familiar as I'm sure you

         12  all are with field response reports. I mean, are

         13  those truly adequate? Is that a good replacement to

         14  exact time of arrival statistics, or what?

         15                 Because as Mr. Rosenzweig pointed

         16  out, we want this information to improve the system

         17  to make it as best as possible, if the field

         18  response reports are already doing it, do we have

         19  that or not? I've never seen a field response

         20  report, so I don't know.

         21                 MR. BAHNKEN: There's a field feedback

         22  form.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Field

         24  feedback, excuse me. Yes.

         25                 MR. BAHNKEN: And it's probably the
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          2  most useless piece of paper I've ever seen in my

          3  life. I mean, you know, I know people who have

          4  filled out dozens of field feedback forms to say,

          5  you know, an address doesn't exist. I mean, we get

          6  false alarms all the time. We get habitual callers,

          7  and you have to send a resource, and it may be 419A

          8  165th Street, but there is no 419, there is no 400

          9  block. But we fill out the old feedback forms and we

         10  send them up the chain of command and say, there's

         11  no building, it doesn't exist, or there is no 15th

         12  floor. The building ends at 10. And that's just a

         13  small example of these field feedback forms. We have

         14  units that are sent field feedback forms saying why

         15  am I deployed? Why is my cross-street location in an

         16  industrial area that ceases to function after 5:00

         17  p.m.? So at 6:00 I'm sending an ambulance to sit in

         18  an area where they're the only two living beings

         19  there, and they report that out. Or they'll offer

         20  alternatives. I'm required to park on a cross-street

         21  location. So, I have to park at that corner, or else

         22  I'm subject to disciplinary action. It's a busy

         23  intersection, how about moving me two blocks down

         24  where there is not as much traffic? Never happens.

         25                 The EMS computer-aided dispatch
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          2  system, the old one, because the new one that

          3  they're designing, the new PSAC system, doesn't have

          4  EMS capabilities. We've already pointed that out.

          5  The new system, for all it's $1.3 billion, can't

          6  dispatch a single ambulance. So, the old system that

          7  we're currently working with, has not been updated

          8  in years. There are streets in Staten Island that

          9  don't even exist in our computer. They don't exist.

         10  They're just not there.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's scary.

         12                 MR. BAHNKEN: You're telling me.

         13                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: That's the uniqueness

         14  of the individual borough system, that each borough

         15  maintains their own street files, and we do our own

         16  street surveys. So, in fact, when there are new

         17  paper streets put in that we get from the planning,

         18  we actually do surveys and we upgrade our manual

         19  system until we can catch up with the data,

         20  sometimes that takes three, four years. It could

         21  take as long as three years to get a new street

         22  actually into the system so that we can get the

         23  cross street, the addresses to match. So, we do this

         24  all manually. But once we lose that five-borough

         25  concept, and we have a centralized center, that's
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          2  done, because we will no longer have a Staten Island

          3  dispatcher or a Brooklyn dispatcher or a Queens

          4  dispatcher. It will be emergency dispatchers, and

          5  nobody will have any particular interest in any

          6  particular borough.

          7                 DR. GOLDSCHMETT: And don't forget

          8  that these forms are all, they're all manually

          9  produced, and therefore, if they're talking about

         10  wasting people's time, you're pulling a unit out of

         11  service long enough to make these feedback forms for

         12  no particularly good benefit at the end of it.

         13                 MR. BAHNKEN: And just to add, with

         14  the state of morale the way it is, people don't have

         15  an interest in filling out these forms. One, they

         16  don't come back, and two, we have some pretty

         17  intelligent people that we work with, and they have

         18  some very good ideas, but they're not answered.

         19  These people are not entertained, and that's why

         20  these forms don't get filled out. And I believe

         21  that's not the way to make changes. It's for me to

         22  get on the phone and make it happen immediately, and

         23  not to go through a paper trail.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I thank

         25  all of you for this sobering but important
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          2  testimony. I think the distinction of the

          3  operational and the medical system standards and the

          4  follow of the NFPA and I think I'd like to look into

          5  getting us either a City bill or a City endorsement

          6  of the State bill to require CPR training. I think

          7  that would be very important.

          8                 Madam Chair, I need to beg your

          9  indulgence, and that of the ensuing witnesses who I

         10  know will deliver important testimony, but I'm being

         11  summoned. And although I will be represented

         12  throughout the rest of the hearing, I thank you

         13  again Madam Chair, for a great hearing.

         14                 And I just need to thank Solomon

         15  Turkel, who is our Director of Legislation, along

         16  with Ari Connor, our intern, who really worked in

         17  conjunction with your office in preparing this.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         20  Council member. And I want to thank all of your for

         21  your testimony here today.

         22                 There will certainly be follow-up. As

         23  has been indicated by Council Member Gerson

         24  particularly on the EMS side, we will be looking at

         25  a number of those issues in an upcoming hearing.
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          2                 MR. BAHNKEN: I just wanted to add,

          3  you're probably going to see me again real soon,

          4  because if the City seeks to make, or really seeks

          5  to move forward on dumming down on medical

          6  responses, we may need an intervention of the City

          7  Council by way of local law. And I have already had

          8  my attorneys looking at the legality of such a

          9  regulation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good. Thank you.

         11                 MR. BAHNKEN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We have two more

         13  witnesses, members of the public who would like to

         14  testify.

         15                 I'd like to Joseph Garber, and Morris

         16  Faitelwicz, to please come and give their testimony

         17  at this time.

         18                 MR. GARBER: Good afternoon, Chair

         19  Clarke, and members of the Council staff Committee.

         20                 My name is Joseph Garber. I'm a Civic

         21  Activist, but I'm also the corresponding secretary

         22  of the Civil Service Merit Council, which is a good

         23  government group which is responsible to try to

         24  ensure the effectiveness, efficiency and integrity

         25  of government, and the administration of the Civil
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          2  Service examinations in accordance with the merit

          3  and fitness clause of the New York State

          4  Constitution.

          5                 Since I missed the first two hearings

          6  on diversity, I will speak my comments this

          7  afternoon relative to diversity. No question that

          8  diversity is a great problem in the New York City

          9  Fire Department. In the book written by former Fire

         10  Commissioner Thomas Van Essen, he discussed this

         11  numerous times throughout the book that there was a

         12  problem of diversity and unfortunately FDNY is

         13  definitely, for whatever reason possible, is not

         14  being able to include this diversity.

         15                 You also stated that usually the Fire

         16  Department was a job that was a family legacy. Your

         17  grandfather, your father, your brothers, your

         18  uncles. So, if you do not have a base of let's say

         19  minority candidates and females who are in the Fire

         20  Department, they may not heartily seek the Fire

         21  Department as a possible courier.

         22                 In addition, in a book on the history

         23  of the Fire Department, it was mentioned a concept

         24  of the black bed, and that disturbed me very

         25  greatly. In the fire house, it mentioned of in fact
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          2  former Commissioner August Beekman joined the Fire

          3  Department, he was subject to the black bed concept

          4  in the fire house. There were two brothers, the

          5  Julius Brothers, one of them was a Battalion Chief

          6  and the other was a Captain. They were subject.

          7                 So, now a few weeks ago, what the

          8  Handmans News (phonetic) found in a fire house in

          9  Queens, that is very bad.

         10                 I agree also with David Rosenzweig's

         11  comments about the concept of civil service, okay?

         12  In the concept of housing, maybe some mitigating

         13  factor why people don't want to join civil service,

         14  especially since Gifford Miller on page six of the

         15  State of the City Address mentioned this.

         16                 For the record also, I'd like to

         17  state that there is the lack of representation of

         18  Jewish personnel in the Fire Department. In 1926,

         19  the Jewish organization called The Nare Tometts

         20  Society (phonetic) was founded. At one time there

         21  were a sizeable number of Jews of all ranks in the

         22  Fire Department. Unfortunately, if you look at the

         23  number of Jews in the Fire Department, not

         24  necessarily EMT or EMS people, you'll find it's very

         25  negligible in accordance with the Jewish population
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          2  of New York City.

          3                 Now, I'd like to say for the record,

          4  the promotional concept in the New York City Fire

          5  Department. It's one thing if you have candidates

          6  who pass the written, who pass the physical, and I

          7  want to make sure you understand it, you're not on

          8  any list by DCAS until you pass the physical, and

          9  then it's in rank order, unless you have veterans

         10  preference, and if you have now the Legacy concept

         11  (phonetic), okay, but veterans' preference could

         12  only be used once.

         13                 Now, the concept of 60 college

         14  credits, and the same thing as in the Police

         15  Department, it remains to be seen, is it viable or

         16  not? But I know for promotional opportunity, they do

         17  require now for some of the ranks to have a certain

         18  number of college credits.

         19                 So, therefore, if you don't have them

         20  at the outset, you possibly are going to have to

         21  make them up later, in order for you to be eligible

         22  to take the exams.

         23                 Now, for the record, I want to go

         24  over the ranks, the ranks that are covered by

         25  competitive civil service exams. Lieutenant,

                                                            147

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Captain, Battalion Chief, Deputy Chief, and Chief of

          3  the Department, okay? These are all, in order to be

          4  promoted to these ranks, you must pass a civil

          5  service exam.

          6                 For the ranks, Deputy Assistant

          7  Chief, Assistant Chief, who may serve as a Borough

          8  Commander, or what is called a staff chief, okay?

          9  And the Chief of Operations, those are exempt

         10  titles, okay? Those are exempt, and you're appointed

         11  by Police Commissioner.

         12                 Interesting that I know, Battalion

         13  Chief Rocky Jones, I read the article, she is the

         14  first female to be a Battalion Chief in the Fire

         15  Department, and it took around 22 years to climb to

         16  that ladder.

         17                 So, I mean, that's another thing.

         18  Once we have a sizeable number of protective class

         19  members and females, we have to make sure that they

         20  study and they pass the various promotional exams.

         21                 So, that's it. I wanted to say that I

         22  am very concerned about diversity, and unfortunately

         23  it is not working. So, anything you can do, it would

         24  be interesting if you maybe took a look at the

         25  Police Department recruitment section, even though
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          2  the Police Department never had a problem of getting

          3  people to take the exam, they had a recruitment

          4  section, and you should see the amount of money they

          5  spent. So, maybe you can get some of this. Go back,

          6  in fact, they targeted public housing developments,

          7  and years ago I was assigned to that unit to try to

          8  go out and have people take the police, police to

          9  that exam, as well as the Police Officer exam. So,

         10  maybe we have to look at our targeting.

         11                 But for the record, I'd also like to

         12  state, there's a high school in Thomas Jefferson

         13  that deals with Fire Science High School. So,

         14  hopefully from there we could get some minority

         15  group members interested in taking the Fire

         16  Department exam. But anyway, it's a multitude issue

         17  that has to be watched and monitored.

         18                 I thank you for letting me testify

         19  here today.

         20                 MR. FAITELEWICZ: Madam Chair, thank

         21  you very much. I always feel funny being last to

         22  speak, but if you'd bear with me, I'm going to speak

         23  a very short period of time.

         24                 Again, I want to thank you. I took a

         25  half a day off to be here, and I took the day off
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          2  yesterday. I was with many constituents at Madison

          3  Square Garden for the celebration of the Talmud, as

          4  you'll see in a minute you will understand why, but

          5  you were kind enough to honor me as an auxiliary

          6  police officer, and if you remember, in September,

          7  you know I'm very involved in voluntary emergency

          8  response.

          9                 Of course, you've seen my business

         10  card, but now I'm going to talk to you about the

         11  other aspect.

         12                 I want to thank Solomon Turkel and

         13  Councilman Gerson who is a friend of mine. I

         14  understand they had to leave, you know, it's a long

         15  day, and he has commitments. And I appreciate the

         16  opportunity that they told me about this so I can

         17  talk to you about this, because I do have expertise

         18  in this area, and like to, and I support the bill as

         19  far as the response times, I'm not an expert on the

         20  Fire Department Engine Companies, even though I work

         21  with them as far as the volunteer emergency service

         22  work, but my area is really the ambulance as you'll

         23  see.

         24                 Now, let me read from this testimony

         25  very quickly and you'll see that I support the bill
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          2  as far as response times, and also want to bring up

          3  an area that you may not be aware of, which is I

          4  think very important. Because just the response of

          5  the first individuals to an emergency, doesn't

          6  always mean it's the best person that's responding.

          7  And we really should be expanding, just as you're

          8  doing the fire companies, the various fire

          9  companies, we should be looking at the specific

         10  units that are responding to that situation.

         11                 So, let me just start here. Again, my

         12  name is Morris Faitelewicz, and I speak to you today

         13  as a community activist, that has been involved in

         14  providing emergency care, as both a volunteer and

         15  paid professional for over three decades, innumerous

         16  roles, uniforms and even business suits.

         17                 I have had the privilege of being

         18  with my team by City Council on September 12th,

         19  2002, for service to Ground Zero, where I

         20  coordinated New York City Auxiliary Police Emergency

         21  Support Rescue Units who worked for and alongside

         22  both the NYPD Emergency Services Unit and Special

         23  Operations Division.

         24                 On November 30th, 2004, I was

         25  officially promoted to the Auxiliary Police Deputy
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          2  Inspector, and designated Citywide Coordinator of

          3  APSU, NYPD ESU Operations and the Commanding Officer

          4  of Citywide APSU.

          5                 I am certified as both an instructor

          6  and a New York State and New York City REMAC

          7  Paramedic and have worked in the EMS 911 System for

          8  both NYU Downtown Hospital and Cabrini Medical

          9  Center. I also teach American Heart Association

         10  Advanced Adult and Pediatric Cardiac Life Support

         11  classes to physicians and other medical personnel in

         12  the medical community for the continuum health

         13  system, which consists of such renowned institutions

         14  as Beth Israel, Long Island College Hospital, St.

         15  Luke's Roosevelt and New York Eye and Ear.

         16                 I am currently second and have been

         17  first vice chair of Manhattan Community Board 3 and

         18  also serve as Executive Board Liaison and Consultant

         19  to the Public Safety and Transportation Committees

         20  because of my years experience as Chair of both of

         21  the committees.

         22                 In this role I have attended many

         23  meetings, including borough budget consultations in

         24  which for years I have told EMS and later FDNY that

         25  their response times were flawed and must be changed
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          2  immediately since lives are at risk.

          3                 Measuring response times based on

          4  time of patient contact more accurately reflects the

          5  possibility of life-saving assistance. But since

          6  it's based on patient contact, and not when the

          7  first unit arrives at the address to show that many

          8  areas and blocks, especially those at large

          9  buildings like Manhattan, actually have dismal

         10  response times. Your legislation will go a long way

         11  in saving lives and minimizing the effects on the

         12  body of injuries and illness caused by delayed

         13  emergencies and hospital care due to poor response

         14  times.

         15                 But I respectfully, and emphasize

         16  that, must point out that you can easily make this

         17  legislation even better.

         18                 All that is required, and others

         19  might imperative, is that you track the response

         20  time of each type of FDNY, and I must stress very

         21  importantly, all other agency responding units, to

         22  get a truer picture of the appropriateness of care

         23  being provided in New York City to a patient.

         24                 This is especially true now that FDNY

         25  wishes to split paramedics into groups of one EMT
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          2  and one paramedic, in both their EMS and firefighter

          3  divisions. And again, some of this has to do with

          4  emergency service now having tactical paramedics,

          5  where they can operate as paramedics. So, you know,

          6  obviously the Police Department has it, the Fire

          7  Department has to have it, too, right? EMS split was

          8  approved last month for staffing ALS first responder

          9  vehicles, which are like suburban and such, and let

         10  me draw you a picture of what I mean by describing

         11  what might happen at a cardiac arrest call in a

         12  school that does not yet have a defibrillator.

         13                 Police officers and police precincts

         14  that does not yet have a defibrillator, or maybe

         15  just one, are on the scene already assisting

         16  teachers performing CPR.

         17                 My NYPD volunteer auxiliary police

         18  emergency support unit might be the first, and we

         19  are the first auxiliary police unit in the City to

         20  be granted authorization for an AED, arrives on the

         21  scene with the AED, which is usually a non-monitored

         22  defibrillator that reads that heart electrical

         23  activity, and we attach it to the patient and the

         24  machine recommends a first heart shock, called

         25  defibrillation, and the shock is immediately
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          2  performed by the volunteers.

          3                 A FDNY fire crew and engine company

          4  might arrive with their defibrillator, and offers

          5  their assistance and takes over only CPR seeing that

          6  a defibrillator is already in use and the police

          7  officers and the teachers are tired from performing

          8  CPR.

          9                 A second shock is recommended and

         10  performed and the FDNY ambulance crew arrived only

         11  with one paramedic onboard.

         12                 A third heart shock is given but the

         13  patient does not regain the pulse, and as per proper

         14  treatment protocol, CPR is resumed. The FDNY EMS

         15  Paramedic, seeing that the cardiac arrest and that

         16  all procedures are being performed by the team

         17  appropriate calls for a second paramedic, because

         18  this might be a very heavy patient, and plus he

         19  needs a second paramedic to treat this patient

         20  properly.

         21                 You start setting up to start

         22  intravenous line to get medication to the heart to

         23  make the next series of heart shocks more effective,

         24  especially since the team is able to get oxygen

         25  effectively in the patient's lungs. The auxiliary
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          2  police team offers assistance to the paramedic since

          3  he is alone, and one of the volunteers is a

          4  paramedic with 911 experience. And the AP paramedic

          5  assist the EMS paramedic only as he is specifically

          6  directed because of certain laws.

          7                 This includes putting IV fluids

          8  together, because it doesn't come pre-set-up, and

          9  working with the paramedic EMT partner in setting up

         10  the EMS paramedics all purpose defibrillator on the

         11  patient.

         12                 A minute of CPR passes and after

         13  manually checking for a pulse and breathing the old

         14  monitor shows a shock is necessary. Members of the

         15  auxiliary police team are asked to shock, as the new

         16  defibrillator is just about ready, and the paramedic

         17  is now ready to push the first cardiac arrest drug.

         18                 This shock is given, and a new

         19  defibrillator is now ready to take over, and the

         20  paramedic administers the first drug and CPR is

         21  resumed to distribute the drug before the next

         22  shock.

         23                 At that point the second EMS team

         24  with the second paramedic walks in.

         25                 So, if there wasn't a group of people
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          2  there that could assist that paramedic, patient care

          3  is delayed, and that's something that has to be

          4  noted.

          5                 It also has to be noted, when is the

          6  second paramedics team, especially now, because I'm

          7  sure the EMS union will be coming back to you, and I

          8  know they are fighting about this issue, because

          9  they feel that proper patient care involves having

         10  the two paramedics arrive at the same time.

         11                 So, you really need to track, not

         12  only the different units that are coming in, because

         13  the first engine company might come in, and, again,

         14  I'm being honest, I'm not familiar that if an engine

         15  company shows up on the scene, the first unit, is

         16  that the response time statistic that EMS uses? And

         17  I believe it is. But they can only use a

         18  defibrillator, in which they have, but that patient

         19  might need a drug. The defibrillator is sometimes

         20  not enough. Sometimes it does bring somebody back,

         21  and sometimes it doesn't. Sometimes you need to get

         22  those drugs in to shock that patient.

         23                 So, tracking when that second unit

         24  comes in is very important, and possibly a third

         25  unit.
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          2                 As you can see from the scenario I've

          3  given you, that just looking at the response time in

          4  the first instance of patient contact by an

          5  emergency response provider, whoever it might be, it

          6  might be a police department paramedic, does not

          7  give you an accurate picture of the true care

          8  provided.

          9                 In addition, a touchier and more

         10  complex issue that is beyond the scope of this

         11  hearing is alluded to here in this scenario by

         12  hinting at the integration of uniformed services

         13  dispatching and reporting system, so that all

         14  meaningful response times are capable of easily

         15  being captured.

         16                 Thank you for your time. And, of

         17  course, I'm available to answer any questions that

         18  you might have.

         19                 So, that's really the fact, just

         20  measuring one response time statistics gives you a

         21  false, very false picture.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         23  both of you for your testimony here today, and

         24  certainly it will be helpful as we move forward with

         25  these very important questions.

                                                            158

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. FAITELEWICZ: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Having said that,

          5  this hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:19 p.m.)
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